The Texas Medical Center Library DigitalCommons@TMC

Dissertations and Theses (Open Access)

MD Anderson UTHealth Houston Graduate School

5-2011

Expression And Regulation Of Human Cytochrome P450 4F Isoforms In Tissue Samples And Under Tnf-Alpha Challenges

Jordan C. Bell

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs_dissertations

Part of the Biochemistry Commons, Molecular Biology Commons, and the Molecular Genetics Commons

Recommended Citation

Bell, Jordan C., "Expression And Regulation Of Human Cytochrome P450 4F Isoforms In Tissue Samples And Under Tnf-Alpha Challenges" (2011). *Dissertations and Theses (Open Access)*. 146. https://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs_dissertations/146

This Dissertation (PhD) is brought to you for free and open access by the MD Anderson UTHealth Houston Graduate School at DigitalCommons@TMC. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses (Open Access) by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@TMC. For more information, please contact digcommons@library.tmc.edu.



Expression and Regulation of Human Cytochrome P450 4F

Isoforms in Tissue Samples and Under TNF-α Challenges

By

Jordan C. Bell B.S.

APPROVED:

Chair

[Henry W Strobel, PhD, Advisor]

[Pramod Dash, PhD]

[Jianping Jin, PhD]

[Julia E Lever, PhD]

[William E Seifert, PhD]

APPROVED:

Dean, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

Expression and Regulation of Human Cytochrome P450 4F Isoforms in Tissue Samples and Under TNF-*α* Challenges

А

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of

The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston

and

The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

In Partial Fulfillment of the requirements for

The degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

Jordan Craig Bell, B.S.

Houston, Texas,

May, 2011

Dedication

This work is dedicated to my parents, Charlean J. Harris and Ivy Bell Sr.

Acknowledgments

I want to express my gratitude to Dr. Henry W. Strobel for offering me this great opportunity to do my dissertation research in his laboratory. Dr. Strobel has been a great mentor and support system throughout this process. I have learned many new techniques and received the opportunity to attend many conferences to expand my scientific knowledge. I also want to thank my supervisory committee for their helping hand in providing structure to my project and helping to make it a novel and great research project. I extend my thanks to all the previous members of the lab, Auinash, Cheri, Dan, Eric, Jade, Lepa, Sayee and Ying for their friendship and help. I also want to thank Dr. Dollett White with the Department of Pathology at the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston for participating in a collaboration that provided Human tissue samples for my research project. I also want to thank the labs of Dr. Jianping Jin, Dr. Eric Wagner, Dr. Jaqueline Hecht, and Dr. Michael Gambello for their assistance in helping me learn new techniques that I needed to finish my research project.

I want to give special thanks to my family for being around when I needed an escape from research, and for just being there when I needed them. I want to express my love and appreciation for all of you and let you know I couldn't have done this without you.

I also want to thank my funding source from the NIH - Ruth L. Kirschstein National Research Service Award (NRSA) Grant # 1F31GM081907-01.

iv

Expression and Regulation of Human Cytochrome P450 4F Isoforms in Tissue Samples and Under TNF-α Challenges

Publication No.

Jordan Craig Bell B.S.

Supervisory Professor: Henry W. Strobel, Ph.D

CYP4F (Cytochrome P4504F) enzymes metabolize endogenous molecules including leukotrienes, prostaglandins and arachidonic acid. The involvement of these endogenous compounds in inflammation has led to the hypothesis that changes in the inflamed tissue environment may affect the expression of CYP4Fs during the pro-inflammatory state, which in turn may modulate inflammatory conditions during the anti-inflammatory state. We demonstrated that inflamed tissues have different levels of CYP4F isoform expression profiles in a number of human samples when compared to the average population. The CYP4F isoform expression levels change with the degree of inflammation present in tissue. Further investigation in cell culture studies revealed that inflammatory cytokines, in particular TNF- α , play a role in regulating the expression of the CYP4F family. One of the isoforms, CYP4F11, had different characteristics than that of the other five CYP4F family members. CYP4F11 metabolizes xenobiotics while the other isoforms metabolize endogenous compounds with higher affinity. CYP4F11 also was expressed at high quantities in the brain, and was up-regulated by TNF- α , while the other isoforms were not expressed at high quantities in the brain and were down-regulated by TNF- α . We identified the AP-1 protein of the JNK pathway as the signaling protein that causes significant increase in CYP4F11 expression.

v

Since TNF- α stimulation causes a simultaneous activation of both JNK pathway and NF- κ B signaling, we investigated further the role that NF- κ B plays on expression of the CYP4F11 gene. We concluded that although there is a significant increase in CYP4F11 expression in the presence of TNF- α , the activation of NF- κ B signaling inhibits CYP4F11 expression in a time dependent manner. The expression of CYP4F11 is only significantly increased after 24 hours of treatment with TNF- α ; at shorter time points NF- κ B signaling overpowers the JNK pathway activation. We believe that these findings may in the future lead to improved drug design for modulating inflammation.

Table of Contents

Dedication	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Abstract	v
List of Tables	xi
List of Figures	xii
List of Abbreviations	xv
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Cytochrome P450 Superfamily	2
Discovery, Nomenclature, Evolution	2
Monoxygenase system	3
Hepatic and extra hepatic metabolism	6
Cytochrome P450s as therapeutic targets	6
Inflammation and Cytochrome P450s	7
Cytochrome P450 4F subfamily	12
Function	12
Expression and Distribution	15
Regulation of CYP4Fs during inflammation	15
Chapter Two: Human Distribution, Expression and Inflammatory Med Regulation of CYP4Fs	iator 17
Abstract	18
Background	19
Materials and Methods	20
Chemicals	20
Human Sample RNA	20

		Cell Culture	21
		Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR)	21
		Statistical Analysis	23
	Res	ults	25
		CYP4F Isoform expression is varied across human tissue samples	25
		Patient samples with diseases that have an inflammatory compor have varied level of CYP4F expression	ient 26
		Specific cytokines can change CYP4F isoform expression in Hep- cells	G2 36
	Disc	ussion	39
Cha Diffe	pter erenc	Three: Isoform, Ethnicity and Sex Specific Expression es in Human Orbital Frontal Cortex	43
	Abst	tract	44
	Bacl	kground	45
	Mate	erials and Methods	47
		Human Sample RNA	47
		Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR)	47
		Immunohistochemical Analysis	50
		Statistical Analysis	50
	Res	ults	51
		Cytochrome P450 4F11 is expressed highly in the Orbital Frontal Cortex.	51
		Gender does not affect CYP4F expression in brain	51
		CYP4F11 expression is more abundant in African Americans com to Caucasians	pared 54
		Cytochrome P450 4F11 is expressed selectively in both glial and neuronal cells	57

Discussion	61
Chapter Four: Regulation of Cytochrome P450 4F11 by Nuclear Transcription Factor-Kappa B	67
Abstract	68
Background	69
Materials and Methods	70
Chemicals	70
Cell Culture	70
Protein Isolation and Western Blot Analyses	71
Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction	72
Plasmids	72
Transfection and Luciferase Assays	73
RNAi	73
Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analysis	73
Statistical Analysis	74
Database Sequence Analysis	74
Results	75
NF-kB inhibition increases expression of CYP4F11	75
CYP4F11 promoter activity is downregulated after HepG2 activation TNF- α and MEKK overexpression.	on by 78
NF-кB responsive region is present in the first 200bp of CYP4F11 promoter	80
NF-κB is required for CYP4F11 down-regulation	84
Discussion	88
Chapter Five: Conclusions, Significance and Future Directions	92
Localization of CYP4Fs	93

Bibl	liography	98
Vita		97
	Conclusion	95
	NF-kB inhibits CYP4F11 expression	94
	CYP4F11 expression in the brain	94

List of Tables

Table 1.1 CYP4F subfamily members and their respective known	
substrates	14
Table 2.1 Total RNA Source Information	22
Table 2.2 Sequences of oligonucleotides comprising Human CYP4F isofo	rm
TaqMan assays	24
Table 3.1 Total Brain RNA Characteristic Information	48
Table 3.2 Sequences of oligonucleotides comprising Human CYP4F isofo	orm
TaqMan assays	49

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Cyctochrome P450 catalytic cycle	5
Figure 1.2 Modified proposed pathway for the loss in drug metabolism du	ring an
inflammatory response	9
Figure 1.3 Modified Enzymatic pathway for metabolism of LTB4	13
Figure 2.1 Transcript Copy Numbers of CYP4F Isoforms Across Different	
Tissues	28
Figure 2.2 Isoform and Tissue Specific CYP4F Distributions	30
Figure 2.3 Sample 103 Inflamed Liver Compared to Pooled Liver	32
Figure 2.4 Sample 96 Inflamed Spleen Compared to Pooled Spleen	34
Figure 2.5 Cytokine Regulation of CYP4F Isoforms in HepG2 cells	37
Figure 3.1 CYP4F Isoform Transcript Copy Numbers In Human Brain	52
Figure 3.2 Gender differences of CYP4F expression are not observed in	
orbital frontal cortex	53

Figure 3.3 Ethnicity Differences of CYP4F Isoforms In Human Brain	55
Figure 3.4 Localization of CYP4F11 Protein In Human Brain Glial Cells	58
Figure 3.5 Localization of CYP4F11 Protein In Human Brain	60
Figure 3.6 1.7kb 5'UTR of CYP4F11	65
Figure 4.1 NF-kB inhibition increases expression of CYP4F11	76
Figure 4.2 NF-kB binding site predictions	77
Figure 4.3 TNF- α and MEKK suppresses CYP4F11 promoter activity	79
Figure 4.4 NF-κB responsive region present in the first 200bp of CYP4F1	1
promoter	81
Figure 4.5 NF-κB binds to first 200bp region of CYP4F11 promoter	83
Figure 4.6 IMD-0354 inhibition of NF-κB releases inhibition of	
CYP4F11 transcripts	85

Figure 4.7 TNF- α and MEKK mediated down-regulation of CYP4F11 promoter isNF- κ B dependent87

Figure 4.8 Summary of TNF-α Regulation of CYP4F11 Expression 91

List of Abbreviations

Cytochrome P450s	CYPs or P450s
Cytochrome P4504F	CYP4F
Leukotriene B4	LTB4
Arachidonic Acid	AA
Interleukin 6	IL-6
Interleukin 1 Beta	IL-1β
Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells	NF-ĸB
Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha	TNF-α
Polymorphonuclear Leukocyte	PMNL
5-Lipoxygenase	5-LOX
Cyclooxygenase-2	COX-2
Phosphate-Buffered Saline	PBS
Mitogen activated protein/ERK Kinase Kinase	MEKK
Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction	qRT-PCR
c-Jun N-terminal Kinases	JNK
Microtubule-associated Protein 2	MAP2
Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein	GFAP
Single Nucleotide Polymorphism	SNP
Prostaglandins	PG

Cytochrome P450 Superfamily

Discovery, Nomenclature, Evolution

The Cytochrome P450 (CYPs) family of hemoproteins is the largest and most functionally diverse superfamilies of enzymes. They are responsible for the oxidation, peroxidation, and reductive metabolism of many endogenous compounds such as fatty acids, prostaglandins, leukotrienes, steroids and biogenic amines. A great number of the CYPs are also able to metabolize xenobiotics including drugs, environmental pollutants, natural plant products, and alcohols [1]. The ability for mammalian tissues to oxidize non-polar xenobiotics was known in the early 1950's, however the enzyme or enzymes responsible for the catalysis were not [2]. In 1958 studies from pig and rat microsomal protein fractions noted the existence of a spectral absorbance peak (Soret peak) at 450nm in the presence of carbon monoxide [2]; this was later identified as a P450 hemoprotein [3]. This unique spectral absorbance peak is where CYPs obtain their name.

Human CYPs are named using the following system: CYP, denoting cytochrome P450, an Arabic number designating the P450 family, a letter indicating the subfamily when there are two or more subfamilies known, and then followed by an Arabic numeral representing the individual gene [1]. For example: CYP4F11. If a CYP sequence displays amino acid identity that is greater than 40% they are grouped into the same family [2]. If those sequences are greater than 55% identical then they are placed in the same subfamily, followed by a sequence identity of 97% or higher resulting in alleles [2].

2

The human genome encodes 57 CYP proteins (<u>http://drnelson.utmem.edu/</u> <u>CytochromeP450.html</u>). A recent survey performed by the Guengerich group classified fifteen CYPs as being involved in the metabolism of xenobiotic chemicals, fourteen being involved in the metabolism of sterols; four that oxidize fat-soluble vitamins; and nine involved in the metabolism of fatty acids and eicosanoids in which for the topic of my dissertation the CYP4F family resides. The remaining fifteen CYPs substrates are undesignated [4].

The first CYP is believed to have been present as early as three and a half billion years ago [2]. The thought is that as the earth's atmosphere accumulated more molecular oxygen CYPs were recruited to protect life forms from oxygen toxicity. There was then a switch wherein metabolism of toxic plant allelochemicals, xenobiotics and, thereby, modern pharmaceuticals arose as an important feature of the cytochrome P450 gene superfamily [2]. It is hypothesized that during evolution there was a "plant-animal warfare," whereby animals evolved new P450s to synthesize the toxic phytoalexins produced by plants [5]. It is this evolution of CYP dependent metabolism of plant metabolites by insects and mammals that is most likely linked to present day role of CYPs ability to detoxify pollutants, toxins and pharmaceuticals [2].

Monoxygenase system

Cytochrome P450s main function is to activate molecular oxygen to yield a reactive species that can attack chemical sites to form hydroxyl groups into structures as unreactive as hydrocarbon chains and aromatic rings [6]. There are three major components to the monoxygenase enzyme system: 1) Heme protein,

3

CYP, 2) the flavoprotein, NADPH CYP-reductase and 3) phospholipids [7]. The reductase is needed to transfer two electrons to the CYP thus providing reducing equivalents to the heme iron for reduction of molecular oxygen and product formation during catalysis [4]. The basic reaction takes one molecular oxygen atom and inserts it into a substrate (SH), the second atom being reduced to water: The CYP catalytic cycle follows steps shown in Figure 1.1 [4]. The main steps are

$NAD(P)H + O_2 + SH + H^+ \longrightarrow NAD(P)^+ + SOH + H_2O$

as follows:

- 1. Substrate binds to CYP recognition site
- 2. An electron from NADPH via Cytochrome P450 reductase reduces heme ferric iron
- 3. Oxygen binds the ferrous iron
- 4. Second electron forms the peroxy iron complex
- 5. Cleavage of the O-O bond forming H₂O and a reactive iron-oxo complex
- 6. Oxygen is then transferred to the bound substrate
- 7. Product is released



Figure 1.1 Cyctochrome P450 catalytic cycle. The Cytochrome P450 enzymes act as monoxygenase systems, where molecular O₂ is used to oxidize lipophilic substrates (RH). This figure is adapted from the PROMISE mirror database (website: <u>http://metallo.scripps.edu/PROMISE/P450.html</u>)

Hepatic and extra hepatic metabolism

Even though there are many different families of CYPs the conventional wisdom has been that xenobiotics are mainly metabolized by the CYP families CYP1, CYP2, and CYP3 [8]. With current research in our laboratory we have also found that one isoform of the CYP4F family is as good at metabolizing xenobiotics as CYP3A4 the CYP responsible for metabolizing about 30% of clinically available drugs [7]. In mammals, the liver is the major organ with cytochrome P450 expression and activity. However, the presence of phase I metabolizing enzymes, which include CYPs [9],[10],[11] along with phase II metabolizing enzymes [9], [11], and phase III transporters [12],[13], are also expressed across many other tissues. This distribution of metabolizing enzymes also makes them promising candidates for drug delivery. However, most of the studies conducted on phase I CYP enzymes are focused mainly on the CYP families 1,2, and 3, and since our laboratory has uncovered the ability of CYP4F11 to metabolize drugs, we have focused thisP450s research to examine the distribution of the 4F family in the human body and how the CYP4Fs are regulated.

Cytochrome P450s as therapeutic targets

Currently there are several CYPs that have been targets for drug design, chiefly CYP19A1 and CYP5A1. CYP19A1 or aromatase is responsible for a key step in the biosynthesis of estrogens, and it is this function that drug design has been utilized to inhibit its function [14]. Estrogen production is a component of some cancer processes and other diseases and thus the use of this CYP as a drug target has had a great affect on the treatment of estrogen-related diseases. Furthermore, CYP5A1 or thromboxane A synthase specializes in converting prostaglandin H₂ to thromboxane A₂, a potent vasoconstrictor and inducer of platelet aggregation [15]. Drugs designed as thromboxane A synthase inhibitors are valuable as antithrombotic and antihypertensive drugs [16]. For most other CYPs the attempts to inhibit their activities to achieve either greater drug availability, as in the case of CYP3A4 substrates, or to inhibit the progression of a known function, such as synthesis of arachidonic acid, is still in the beginning stages [7]. Nevertheless, since the goal is to serve people with an effective treatment for disease, knowledge of the function, regulation and expression of cytochrome P450s as they regulate drug availability and inflammation is important in obtaining that goal.

Inflammation and Cytochrome P450s

Another complication for drug design is the fact that during many diseases and infections the normal host defense mechanism is activated and mediators of inflammation are present throughout the body. This is a problem because inflammation modifies the expression, activity, and functions of drug-metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters [17]. Mainly, the inflammatory stimuli cause decreased catalytic abilities of CYPs which could lead to the dose-dependent drug toxicity associated with impaired drug clearance [18]. Thus, understanding the role inflammation plays in regulating CYPs is very important for clinical drug therapy in disease states. During an inflammatory response the liver's ability to handle drugs is not optimal and the expression of CYP genes are down-regulated at the transcript levels [18], which leads to the observed decreased catalytic abilities.

7

Carcillo et al. showed that children with sepsis had a twofold reduction in antipyrine clearance compared to controls [19]. This study shows the importance of inflammatory mediator regulation of a number of CYPs and how marker inflammatory mediators may play a role. In their study they focused on the cytokine Interleukin-6 (IL-6) and nitric oxide (NO) [19]. They concluded that for drugs metabolized by CYPs there needs to be a reevaluation of the use of standard drug dosage schedules especially for patients with sepsis, which show a high increase in host defense inflammation measures [19]. Figure 1.2 is a pathway proposed for the loss of catalytic activity during an inflammatory response [20].

Figure 1.2. Modified proposed pathway for the loss in drug metabolism during an inflammatory response. Diseases cause an inflammatory response that causes the release of cytokines from macrophages, and monocytes which lead to a modified transcription profile of genes that are active in the liver. These changes down-regulate most of the CYP genes expressed in the liver. Which ultimately lead to a low drug clearance and high chance of drug toxicity [20].



An important nuclear transcription factor in the mediation of inflammation is the nuclear transcription factor-kappa B (NF- κ B). Two classic cytokines can lead to the release of NF- κ B, interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α); stimulation of NF- κ B by these two cytokines is considered the classical pathway [21]. This current research project focuses mainly on these cytokines because of their up-regulation during normal host defense processes, and their down stream activation of NF-kB, which also serves as an important transcription factor in the regulation of CYPs. NF-kB regulates over 200 genes involved in a plethora of cellular processes [22],[23],[24],[25]. NF-kB is composed of hetero- or homodimers of five members, p52, p50, p65 (ReIA), ReIB, and c-ReI and each unit has its own biological activity [21]. NF- κ B has been reported to mechanistically regulate the transcription of CYPs either by indirectly regulating the gene through mutual repression between NF- κ B and many other nuclear receptors, or by directly binding to the response element of the CYP gene [22]. Another mechanism that has also been reported is the ability of NF- κ B to affect the stability of the CYP on the protein level [26], [22]. The mechanistic capabilities of NF- κ B and its ability to regulate CYPs are important in the scheme of understanding the expression response of CYPs during an inflammatory response so that drug design and patient care can be improved.

Most current studies examining changes observed in CYP expression during normal host defense mechanism response have been performed on CYP Families 1,2 and 3 [20],[27],[19]. Our laboratory is working on the effects that inflammatory mediators and thus host response mediators have on the CYP4F

11

family and the significance of this information for the future of drug design and resolution of inflammation.

Cytochrome P450 4F subfamily

Function

The Cytochrome P450 4F (CYP4F) family was first discovered by two different groups as part of an effort to define an inactivation pathway for leukotriene B_4 (LTB₄), a powerful mediator of inflammation [28],[29]. The CYP4Fs catalyze ω and ω -1-hydroxylation reactions; it is this reaction that aids in the removal of LTB₄, (Figure 1.3) a prominent proinflammatory signal which, when left unregulated, can cause secondary harmful effects [30].

There are seven CYP4F isoforms presently known to be expressed in humans: CYP4F2, CYP4F3A, CYP4F3B, CYP4F8, CYP4F11, CYP4F12 and CYP4F22. Table 1.1 shows each family members' characteristics. It is important to note that of the seven isoforms the primary drug metabolizer is CYP4F11 **[31]**. However, it is the ability of most of the family members to metabolize multiple mediators of inflammation and regulatory processes such as LTB₄, prostaglandins and arachidonic acid (AA) that has been the focus of the current project on the regulation of these important enzymes.



Figure 1.3 Enzymatic pathway for metabolism of LTB₄[32]. After Leukotriene B₄ is produced CYP4Fs are able to start the deactivation process of LTB₄ by hydroxylation.

lsoform	Substrates	
CYP4F2	LTB4, AA, Vitamin E	
CYP4F3	LTB4, AA, HETE	
CYP4F8	AA, Prostaglandin H2 analogues	
CYP4F11	Erythromycin, Clorpromazine, Theophylline Benzpheamine, Ethylmorphine, AA, LTB4	
CYP4F12	Ebastine, AA, Prostaglandin H2 analogues	
CYP4F22	4F22 -NK-	

CYP4F human subfamily members and their substrates

-NK-: not known

Table 1.1 CYP4F subfamily members and their respectiveknown substrates

Expression and Distribution

There have been a few reports about the location of many different CYP4Fs throughout the human body. CYP4F2 was shown to be expressed in liver, kidney, skin and several other tissues and tumors [32],[33]. CYP4F3 was shown to be expressed in the human liver, while CYP4F8 was shown to be present in seminal vesicles, epidermis, hair follicles, sweat glands, proximal renal tubules, and epithelial linings of the gut and urinary tract [34]. CYP4F11 has been localized to the human liver, kidney, heart, brain and skeletal muscle [35]. Lastly, CYP4F12 has been reported to be expressed in the liver, kidney, seminal vesicles, small intestine, prostate gland and ovarian follicles [36],[37],[38]. While the presence of these isoforms have been identified in a great variety of human tissues, there has not been a complete analysis of the expression level of each isoform of the family as a comparison study to see which isoforms are the predominant members of the family in each tissue. This information would help in understanding the role that the family has in the human body.

Regulation of CYP4Fs during inflammation

Inflammation is known for its contribution to the host defense mechanism where it aids in the fight against infection by a variety of pathogens as well as tissue injury. On the other hand, it also can become diffuse and uncontrolled and thereby produce unwanted complications. The importance of CYP4Fs are shown during this process because after a bacterial infection or tissue injury polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNL) or neutrophils are activated and recruited to the site of inflammation by mediators such as LTB₄ that causes chemotaxis to the site of injury [39],[40]. The CYP4Fs ability to control the inactivation of LTB₄ plays an important role in making sure excess LTB₄ is not in the system, which could lead to unregulated inflammation. Studies examined the changes in CYP4F expression during an inflammatory response to determine if indeed the CYP4Fs have a capability to resolve inflammation [41]. Kalsotra et al. hypothesized that during the pro inflammatory phase of host defense there was a low expression level of CYP4Fs, which begins to show a marked up-regulation of CYP4Fs as the anti-inflammatory phase starts. This elevation of CYP4F activity supports the resolution of the excess of inflammatory mediators [32]. These findings have led our laboratory to study the functions of the specific CYP4F isoforms that are expressed in the human, and examine how they are regulated during an inflammatory response. Our goal is to provide a basis for how these important enzymes work throughout an inflammatory episode. This understanding may in the future lead to better drug design for modulating inflammation.

Chapter Two: Human Distribution, Expression and Inflammatory Mediator Regulation of CYP4Fs

Abstract

Cytochrome P450s (CYP) play a central role in the the metabolism, elimination and detoxification of xenobiotics but many of them play a key role in the metabolism of endogenous compounds. The CYP4F family is instrumental in the inactivation of leukotriene B₄, a potent inflammatory mediator. However, not much is known about the relative expression of each CYP4F isoform in human tissues. In this study we determined the expression profiles of the CYP4F isoforms in the liver, lung, heart, kidney and spleen. We show that during an inflammatory response in tissue samples the profile of the CYP4F isoforms change and that the changes seen are consistent with the presence of inflammatory cytokines. Using the HepG2 human liver cell line we determined that IL-1 β , TNF α and IL-6 causes a decrease in CYP4F expression, but that IL-1 β and TNF α causes an increase in CYP4F11 expression, which is a different regulatory response from its other family members. Overall, the study confirms what was shown in animal model studies is also seen in human tissues and cells.

Background

Cytochrome P450s (CYP) catalyze lipophilic compounds into compounds that are more soluble. They play a central role in the metabolism, elimination and detoxification of xenobiotics. Studies have recently focused on the extra-hepatic metabolic capacities of these enzymes and shown discrete and different activity profiles for extra hepatic tissues. There is also evidence that the different tissue organs regulate extra-hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes in a specific manner that may be associated with the function of that tissue [9]. Several studies have been performed in animal models to determine the distribution and expression of cytochrome P450s [42][43]. However, it is not always possible to translate animal distribution studies to humans with accuracy and certainty [44]. This lack of close correlation may be due to the differences in the number of cytochromes P450 and isoform specificity from one species to another [45].

Our current study focuses on the CYP4F family of enzymes and their localization and regulation. This CYP4F family was first identified because of the ability to inactivate leukotriene B₄ (LTB₄), a powerful mediator of inflammation [28]. Currently seven identified human isoforms in the CYP4F family have been identified, and in this study we focus on CYP4F2, CYP4F3A, CYP4F3B, CYP4F11 and CYP4F12. These isoforms vary in their substrate specificity. CYP4F2 is known for its ability to metabolize LTB₄ or arachidonic acid (AA) [46]. CYP4F3A and CYP4F3B are splice variants of each other that are able to metabolize LTB₄ and AA [47]. Christmas et al. were able to show that CYP4F3B has a greater ability of metabolizing and deactivating LTB₄ [47] while CYP4F3B is more efficient at

19

metabolizing AA into 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic (20-HETE) [48]. CYP4F11, unlike the other members of the CYP4F family, is efficient at catalyzing xenobiotics with higher affinity than endogenous compounds like LTB₄ and AA [31]. The final isoform in this study is CYP4F12; it is able to metabolize AA and prostaglandins (PG), which may also help in the termination of inflammation [36].

To determine the distribution of CYP4F isoforms in human liver, lung, spleen, heart and kidney, we designed qRT-PCR assays that quantify the mRNA of each of the CYP4F isoform family members. We also examined the role inflammatory mediators play in the expression and regulation of the CYP4F isoforms under in vivo and in vitro conditions.

Materials and Methods

Chemicals

IL-1 β , TNF α and IL-6 were obtained from Invitrogen Inc. (Carlsbad, CA).

Human Sample RNA

Pooled Human RNA were purchased from Clontech, Mountain View, CA. Human tissue samples from the liver, heart, lung, spleen and kidney were also collected and flash frozen by the Department of Pathology at the University of Texas Health Science Center Houston from Memorial Hermann Hospital. This was done in accordance to IRB approval by the University of Texas Health Science Center Houston. A description of the human samples is presented in Table 2.1.
Cell Culture

HepG2 cell line was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). Cells were grown at 37°C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂ in Minimum Essential Medium (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Atlas Biologicals, Fort Collins, CO), L-glutamine and Pen/strep antibiotics. Cytokine treatments were administered 24 hours after seeding the cells and the cells were treated for 24 hours in each case unless otherwise noted.

Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR)

Human samples were homogenized in TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) while cells were rinsed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and then subjected to RNA isolation using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen). DNase I (Invitrogen) was used to alleviate DNA contamination. Aliquots (100 ng) of total RNA were reverse-transcribed by SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen) in triplicate, including a reverse transcription blank to evaluate the presence of contaminating genomic DNA. Amplification was performed using Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen) with an ABI Prism 7700 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) at 95°C for 1min, followed by 40 cycles at 95°C for 12s and 60°C for 30s. *CYP4F* mRNA levels were measured using standard curves generated by plotting Ct versus the log of the amount of purified amplicon for *CYP4F* (custom synthesis by Invitrogen) (200ag - 2pg). Abundance of human 18S RNA was used as an internal control.

Sample	Tissue Type	Sex	Pool Size	Age	Race	C.O.D.
Clontech Clontech Clontech Clontech H673 H678 H693 H696 H6102	Li Lu K S H Li,Lu,K,S,H Li,Lu,K,S,H Li,Lu,K,S,H	M F M/F M F M F	1 3 1 12 3 1 1 1 1	51 32-61 40 18-54 30-39 71 50 58 78 62	00000000000	Sudden Death Sudden Death Sudden Death Sudden Death Trauma CRF, HTN Li/K Failure Septic Shock Septic Shock
10105		1	I	00	0	

Li=Liver, Lu=Lung, K=Kidney, S=Spleen, H=Heart, M=Male, F=Female, C=Caucasian, AA=African American,CRF=Cardiorespiratory Failure, HTN=Hypertension

Table 2.1. Total RNA Source Information

Primers and fluorescent probe sequences for CYP4F isoforms and 18S RNA are reported in Table 2.2.

Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. One-way analysis of variance followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test was used for the statistical analysis. Statistical differences were considered significant if P <0.05.

Name	Primers/Probes	5'-3' Sequence
CYP4F2	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	CCAGAACAGGCCAATCTGAA CTCCTCAGTCCCACCTCCC ATGCATAGCGGATTGGTGGCTTTCA
CYP4F3A	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	TCTGGATGGGCCCCATCT TTGATGACAGACCGGATGATGT CGTCATCCGTTTTTGCCACCC
CYP4F3B	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	GCCCTGGCACGCAATC GGAGCAAAGAGCACAGGCTT TCCGCATCTTCCACCCCACC
CYP4F11	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	CGAAACAGAACTGGTTTTGGG GGTCAATGTCTTCATGCCCTC AGGGCCTGGTCACTCCCACGG
CYP4F12	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	ATGTCGGCCACCTATTCCC AGGGTGGCATAAAACGATGA TTACGGTATGGCTGGGTCCCATCAT
Human 18S	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	GAGGGAGCCTGAGAAACGG GTCGGGAGTGGGTAATTTGC TACCACATCCAAGGCAGCAGG

Table 2.2. Sequences of oligonucleotides comprising HumanCYP4F isoform TaqMan assays

Results

CYP4F Isoform expression is varied across human tissue samples

Our laboratory has previously shown that in the rat the expression of CYP4F isoforms are varied across liver, lung, brain and kidney rat tissues [49]. We designed this current study to determine the expression profile of the various CYP4F isoforms across human liver, lung, heart, kidney, spleen and brain tissue.

Liver

The CYP4F2 isoform was the predominant CYP4Fs being expressed in the human liver with the other isoforms showing minimal expression. The CYP4F isoform expression level ranking is CYP4F2 > CYP4F3B > CYP4F11 > CYP4F12 > CYP4F3A as is represented in Figure 2.1.

Lung

In the human lung the CYP4F isoform distribution was as follows: CYP4F3B> CYP4F12 > CYP4F11 > CYP4F2 > CYP4F3A. CYP4F3B represented a significant large percentage of the CYP4F expression in the human lung, while CYP4F3A had only minimal expression levels. Figure 2.1.

Heart

In the heart the distribution of CYP4Fs follows the order of CYP4F3B > CYP4F12 > CYP4F2 > CYP4F11 ~ CYP4F3A as seen in Figure 2.1

Spleen

The spleen had the following order of expression: CYP4F3B > CYP4F2 > CYP4F12 > CYP4F11 ~ CYP4F3A. The expression in the spleen shows a

representation of mostly CYP4F3B with a smaller expression profile for CYP4F2. There is minimal expression of CYP4F3A, CYP4F11 and CYP4F12.

Kidney

The kidney like the liver was very high in expression of CYP4F2 and CYP4F3B isoforms. The distribution is as follows: CYP4F2 > CYP4F3B > CYP4F11 ~ CYP4F12 > CYP4F3A.

The distribution of CYP4F isoforms in various tissues are represented in the pie chart showing their relative expression (Figure 2.2). This varying degrees of isoform distribution is consistent with the differences in expression levels observed in our previous studies of the rat model [49].

Patient samples with diseases that have an inflammatory component have varied level of CYP4F expression

To determine whether inflammation plays a role in the regulation of CYP4Fs we examined patient samples with an inflammatory component implicated in the cause of death. The cause of death was determined by a pathologist using markers of inflammation in histological slides of each tissue. We were able to compare the degree of alteration in CYP4F expression profile occurring in each tissue in comparison to the averaged expression levels for each form in each tissue. Figure 2.3A shows a representative sample of a patient with a disease with an inflammatory component and illustrates the changes in the expression profile of CYP4Fs resulting from inflammation in that tissue. The liver sample from patient H6103 liver had inflammatory markers based on histological markers seen in the slide Figure 2.3B. Increased inflammatory markers are identified as an infiltration of

neutrophils and leukocytes. As noted in Table 2.1 the cause of death for patient H6103 was septic shock, which causes the release of a myriad of inflammatory mediators throughout the body. Further, pathological analysis of the liver resulted in an inflammatory rating of two and a diagnosis of hepatitis. When examining the distribution differences between liver sample H6103 and pooled liver we found significant increase in expression of CYP4F11, CYP4F3B, and CYP4F3A isoforms. Figure 2.4A also shows a representative sample of a patient with a disease that included an inflammatory component and the alterations it causes in the expression profile of CYP4Fs. The liver sample from patient H696 liver had increased inflammatory markers such as infiltrated neutrophils and leukocytes, as is seen in Figure 2.4B. As noted in Table 2.1 patient H696 died of septic shock as well, and the spleen was given an inflammatory rating of two with a reactive hyperplasia and the presence of hemorrhage and white pulps. When examining the distribution differences between sample H696 and pooled liver we observed significant increase in CYP4F11, CYP4F2, and CYP4F3A isoform expression.

Figure 2.1. Transcript Copy Numbers of CYP4F Isoforms Across Different Tissues. Total RNA from samples listed in Table 2.1 were used to asses the mRNA transcript numbers of CYP4F isoforms in the liver, lung, heart, kidney and spleen. CYP4F2 and CYP4F3B shows the highest level of transcript copies across most tissues. CYP4F3A, CYP4F11 have minimal expression across varied tissues and CYP4F12 showed differences from high in the lung to low out of most other tissues.











Figure 2.2 Isoform and Tissue Specific CYP4F Distributions.

Total RNA from samples listed in Table 2.1 were prepared and assayed using qRT-PCR as described in the Methods and Materials section. The pie charts represent the relative distribution of CYP4F isoforms in the liver, lung, kidney, heart and spleen.



Figure 2.3. Sample 103 Inflamed Liver Compared to Pooled Liver.

A) Sample 103 inflamed liver that was diagnosed with hepatitis was used to compare any changes seen in CYP4F isoforms in a diagnosed inflammatory tissue. There was an increase in CYP4F11, CYP4F3A, and CYP4F3B while there was a reduction in CYP4F2 expression. B) A representative histological slide of sample 103's liver with an increase of infiltrated neutrophils which represents the presence of inflammation.





Figure 2.4. Sample 96 Inflamed Spleen Compared to Pooled Spleen.

A) Sample 96s' inflamed spleen that was diagnosed with reactive hyperplasia was used to compare any changes seen in CYP4F isoforms in a diagnosed inflammatory tissue. There was an increase in CYP4F11, CYP4F3A, and CYP4F2 while there was a reduction in CYP4F3B expression. B) A representative histological slide of sample 96s' spleen with an increase of infiltrated neutrophils which represents the presence of inflammation.





Specific cytokines can change CYP4F isoform expression in HepG2 cells

To determine whether if proinflammatory cytokines can regulate the changes seen in CYP4F isoforms we conducted a 24-hour treatment study on HepG2 cells with cytokines and measured the levels mRNA transcripts of each CYP4F isoform. We tested IL-1 β , TNF α and IL-6 cytokines and found that in most cases IL-1 β and TNF α caused a down regulation of CYP4F isoforms (CYP4F2, CYP4F3B, and CYP4F12) while IL-6 seemed to play little to no role in regulating the CYP4Fs. CYP4F11 however showed an increase in transcript levels in the presence of both IL-1 β and TNF α . The ability to change CYP4F expression profiles in a controlled environment provides more evidence that indeed the inflammatory response in human tissues induce changes to these enzymes that metabolize xenobiotics endogenous compounds.

Figure 2.5. Cytokine Regulation of CYP4F Isoforms in HepG2 cells.

HepG2 cells were plated then treated for 24 hours with either Vehicle, IL-1 β , TNF α or IL-6 (10ng/ml). Total RNA was collected after the 24 hour time-period and qRT-PCR was used to quantify the specific isoform expression amount. IL-1 β and TNF α were able to change the expression profiles of CYP4F2, CYP4F3B, CYP4F12 and CYP4F11. IL-6 did not vary much from control levels.



CYP4F3B











CYP4F11



Discussion

Phase I metabolizing enzyme research has focused on the liver as the preferred site of experiments because of its known role as the principle organ of biotransformation [50]. It is also believed that xenobiotics are mainly metabolized by cytochrome P450 (CYP)1,2 and 3 family members, and that the other family members focus mainly on endogenous compound trasformation [8]. There has been extensive work done on the regulation, expression profile and function of these family members [43][51-53]. Though much research has focused on the liver because of its functional role in biotransformation, every major tissue has some ability to metabolize xenobiotics [50]. Knowing this information is important because when considering drug disposition the total effect must determined; thus the additive effect of all tissues is important [54]. Many studies have examined the expression and localization of members of the CYP family of genes. Five members of the CYP2C family have been examined by Tsao et al. and they found that there were varied expression profiles of the genes across the murine model [55]. They determined that the sites of these enzymes' expression also play a functional role in that specific tissue [55]. Ding et al. published a review that examined the CYP1, 2 and 3 families to identify their presence in different parts of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts [56]. Another study determining the expression and localization of the CYP3A subfamily found that the genes were expressed at different levels across different tissues and suggested that this was due to tissue specific regulation of the promoter region [57]. There is a limited amount of information about the distribution and localization of the CYP4F family in humans.

We undertook to examine the liver, lung, heart, kidney and spleen of a variety of human samples and determine the averaged mRNA expression of the CYP4F isoforms using the highly sensitive technique qRT-PCR. We found that CYP4F2 and CYP4F3B were the most expressed CYP4F isoforms across the different human tissues. CYP4F2, which is responsible for the inactivation of LTB4 and metabolizes AA into 20-HETE, was highly expressed in the liver and the kidney. Jin et al., reported that the Chinese Human Liver Proteome Profiling Consortium had obtained 42% CYP4F2 and 29% CYP4F3 relative protein abundance in the liver as compared with CYP3A4 [58]. This finding is consistent with the mRNA levels that we have seen in the liver, and they are in the correct order of relative abundance. It is also important to note that the high levels of CYP4F2 and CYP4F3B in the kidney can produce 20-HETE that helps modulate vascular tone and renal tubular function [59, 60]. CYP4F3A was the original CYP4F3 found in neutrophils and is known for its ability to inactivate LTB₄, and CYP4F3B was found to be highly present in liver and kidney using northern blot techniques [48]. We also found that there was a high level of CYP4F12 transcripts in the heart and lung, and very little in the other tissues. It has been reported that CYP4F12 protein is expressed in the liver and kidney in small amounts, but that the highest expression of CYP4F12 protein was in the seminal vesicles and prostate gland [38]. They reported little to no CYP4F12 protein in the aorta and no information was reported about the lung [38]. Thus, further studies would have to be performed to see precise localization of the CYP4F12 protein to determine whether the mRNA expression levels

correlate with protein levels. Overall, CYP4F11 showed small amounts of expression across all the tissues tested.

This study determined the constitutive levels of Human CYP4F isoforms so that there could be a comparison of what these levels are during an inflammatory response. Many studies have reported that inflammatory mediators can cause a change in the expression profile of CYPs [20, 27, 61-63]. The idea that the same down-regulation that occurs in other CYPs could effect the CYP4F family is mainly based on animal model studies done in our lab and other laboratories that show that after injury and the pro-inflammatory stage there is a down-regulation of CYP4Fs. This down-regulation is then reversed in the pro-inflammatory stage of healing where there is an increase in CYP4Fs to help in resolving the inflammatory mediators such as LTB₄ [64-67]. To study this we compared known inflamed tissues defined by histological analysis from patient samples and compared them to our pooled tissue samples. We found that there is a change in CYP4F expression profile in the presence of inflammatory mediators. Of importance is the higher expression of CYP4F3A seen in these samples, which we believe is correlative to the presence of neutrophils at the site of injury/inflammation. However, the changes seen in the CYP4Fs maybe based on a number of signaling processes that need to be studied in a different system, which is why we went to cell culture to identify signaling pathways for changes we saw in the CYP4F expression.

During an inflammatory response or injury a number of cytokines are released as part of the host response [68]. We chose to determine how IL-1β,

TNF α and IL-6 would effect the expression of the CYP4Fs. We found that for a majority of the CYP4Fs, IL-1 β and TNF α treatment caused down-regulation of mRNA CYP4F transcripts except for that of CYP4F11. IL-6, however, seems to have little to no effect on the expression of the CYP4Fs. We also found that there was no significant difference between cytokine-treated and control CYP4F3A expression. The conclusion that CYP4F11 can be up-regulated during an inflammatory response and its ability to metabolize xenobiotics could potentially be beneficial to pharmaceutical companies looking for a way to control unwanted inflammatory mediators in tissues. Understanding more about the regulatory controls of the CYP4F family and their ability to resolve inflammation, although still in its infancy stage, could become a major help in treating patients.

Chapter Three: Isoform, Ethnicity and Sex Specific Expression Differences in Human Orbital Frontal Cortex

Abstract

Cytochrome P450s play an important role in the brain. They are responsible for metabolism of neurosteroids, neurotransmitters, and xenobiotics in the brain. This study determined the expression of the isoforms of CYP4F family of enzyme in the orbital frontal cortex. We found that CYP4F11, an enzyme that metabolizes xenobiotic and endogenous compounds was expressed at a significantly higher quantity than its other family members. Immuno-histochemical studies revealed that the CYP4F11 protein is localized in neuron and glial cells and that expression of CYP4F11 is not ubiquitous across all cells. We also found that while gender does not affect the CYP4F isoform expression in the orbital frontal cortex, ethnicity does. African Americans express CYP4F11 at a significantly higher rate than their Caucasian counterparts. Overall, this study is the first demonstration of the importance of CYP4F11 expression in brain.

Background

Extensive work has been done on the metabolism of xenobiotics in the liver and extra-hepatic tissues. This is because xenobiotics are found in all facets of our environment, they range from the drugs we take to the air we breath to the food we eat. Cytochrome P450s (CYP) have been identified as the key enzyme that starts the detoxification process for these compounds by transforming them from lipophilic to more polar hydrophilic metabolites. Because xenobiotics come in a variety of shapes and sizes, the CYP enzymes have been located in all tissues and consist of a diverse number of enzymes within its superfamily. Although there has been extensive research on the CYP expression in the liver and other extrahepatic tissues the brain has special properties that make it unique. One of the main characteristics that is unique to the brain is the presence of the blood brain barrier (BBB). The BBB is made up of 3 cellular components: endothelial cells, astrocyte feet and pericytes [69]. The BBB is further characterized by the presence of tight junctions which help create a selective barrier to prevent the transport of hydrophilic molecules across the BBB; however, small lipophilic compounds and molecules can cross the barrier [69]. The astrocyte end feet that cover 90% of the endothelial cell surface can also release chemical factors and signals that can regulate the permeability of the endothelium [70]. The brain's limited ability to regenerate and the lipophilic characteristics of xenobiotics leaves the brain vulnerable to damage by toxic compounds. Thus the presence of CYPs to metabolize any lipophilic compound that enters the brain is of great importance in detoxification and therefore protection of the brain.

Many of the CYP family members have been identified in the brain, and they include CYP subfamilies 1, 2, 3 and 4 [71]. What many researchers have found is that the expression levels of CYPs in the brain are about 1-10% of that in the liver [72, 73]. Although there is less representation of CYPs in the brain, the expression of most are in specific regions of the brain, and some members of the CYP family of enzymes also show specific splice variants in the brain.

Although CYPs play a role in catalyzing the detoxification of xenobiotics crossing the BBB, a greater majority of CYPs in the brain specialize in the formation of biologically important lipid signaling molecules such as eicosanoids and steroid hormones. These molecules include: estrogen, corticosteroids, bile acids, vitamin D, and androgens [74]. Another important function of CYPs in the brain is the synthesis of 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (20-HETE) from aracidonic acid (AA). This activity is important because 20-HETE plays a role in regulating cerebral blood flow and helps in the vasodilation actions of nitric oxide in cerebral circulation [75]. Studying CYP4F expression in the brain is of great importance because of this last point. Many of the isoforms in the CYP4F family metabolize AA into 20-HETE and to know their expression patterns in the brain helps us understand more about how the brain is functioning. This current study was planned to identify which CYP4F isoforms are expressed in the brain and identify cell types, whether it be neuronal or glial, that express the CYP4Fs.

Materials and Methods

Human Sample RNA

Brain samples were collected from the National Institutes of Health by Dr. Thomas Hyde in accordance to NIH IRB approval of human samples. All samples were from the orbital frontal cortex, and sample descriptions are listed in Table 3.1.

Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR)

Human samples were homogenized in TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) while cells were rinsed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), then subject to RNA isolation using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen). DNase I (Invitrogen) was used to alleviate DNA contamination. Aliquots (100 ng) of total RNA were reverse-transcribed with SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen) in triplicate, including a reverse transcription blank to evaluate presence of contaminating genomic DNA. Amplification was performed using Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen) with an ABI Prism 7700 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) at 95°C for 1min, followed by 40 cycles at 95°C for 12s and 60°C for 30s. *CYP4F* mRNA levels were measured using standard curves generated by plotting Ct versus the log of the amount of purified amplicon for *CYP4F* (custom synthesis by Invitrogen) (200ag - 2pg). Abundance of human 18S RNA was used as an internal control. Primers and fluorescent probe sequences for CYP4F isoforms and 18S RNA are reported in Table 3.2.

Sample	BrainRegion	AGE (yr)	Gender	Ethnicity	PMI (hr)
910	Orbital Frontal Cortex	52	F	AfAm	10
922	Orbital Frontal Cortex	51	Μ	Cauc	30.5
942	Orbital Frontal Cortex	61	Μ	Cauc	19.5
1007	Orbital Frontal Cortex	57	Μ	AfAm	25
1051	Orbital Frontal Cortex	57	F	AfAm	19
1053	Orbital Frontal Cortex	40	F	AfAm	25
1054	Orbital Frontal Cortex	58	М	AfAm	28.5
1056	Orbital Frontal Cortex	48	Μ	AfAm	37
1099	Orbital Frontal Cortex	67	F	AfAm	34
1109	Orbital Frontal Cortex	59	F	Cauc	23
1127	Orbital Frontal Cortex	43	F	AfAm	72
1275	Orbital Frontal Cortex	60	Μ	AfAm	13
1276	Orbital Frontal Cortex	24	Μ	AfAm	43.5
1314	Orbital Frontal Cortex	53	F	AfAm	50.5
1443	Orbital Frontal Cortex	56	Μ	Cauc	29.5
1458	Orbital Frontal Cortex	34	Μ	Cauc	13.5
1473	Orbital Frontal Cortex	44	Μ	AfAm	29
1522	Orbital Frontal Cortex	64	F	AfAm	52.5
1525	Orbital Frontal Cortex	46	М	AfAm	13

F=Female, M=Male, AfAm=African American, Cauc=Caucasian, PMI=Post-Mortem Interval

Table 3.1. Total Brain RNA Characteristic Information

Name	Primers/Probes	5'-3' Sequence
CYP4F2	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	CCAGAACAGGCCAATCTGAA CTCCTCAGTCCCACCTCCC ATGCATAGCGGATTGGTGGCTTTCA
CYP4F3A	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	TCTGGATGGGCCCCATCT TTGATGACAGACCGGATGATGT CGTCATCCGTTTTTGCCACCC
CYP4F3B	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	GCCCTGGCACGCAATC GGAGCAAAGAGCACAGGCTT TCCGCATCTTCCACCCCACC
CYP4F11	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	CGAAACAGAACTGGTTTTGGG GGTCAATGTCTTCATGCCCTC AGGGCCTGGTCACTCCCACGG
CYP4F12	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	ATGTCGGCCACCTATTCCC AGGGTGGCATAAAACGATGA TTACGGTATGGCTGGGTCCCATCAT
Human 18S	Forward Primer Reverse Primer Probe	GAGGGAGCCTGAGAAACGG GTCGGGAGTGGGTAATTTGC TACCACATCCAAGGCAGCAGG

Table 3.2. Sequences of oligonucleotides comprising HumanCYP4F isoform TaqMan assays

Immunohistochemical Analysis

Tissue fixation and immunohistochemistry solvents were all certified histological grade and obtained from Fisher Scientific (Pittsburgh, PA). Brain samples were fixed in 10% formalin solution, after surgical extraction by our neuropathologist colleague from Memorial Herman Hospital. Samples were then fixed being dehydrated in a series of ethanol (50%, 70%, 95%, 100%) and xylene solutions (100%), then embedded in paraffin wax. The wax block molds of brain tissue were then sectioned and mounted onto poly-L-lysine coated glass slides. For immunohistochemical analysis, the slides were rehydrated and then taken through an antigen retrieval process. The tissue samples were incubated at 4°C overnight in primary antibody solution, then incubated for at least 1 hour in secondary antibody solution. The primary antibody solution contained antibody to CYP4F11 (1:100) and antibody to either MAP2 (1:500), or GFAP (1:1000). The secondary antibody solution was either AlexaFluor-594 anti-rabbit (1:250) or AlexaFluor-488 anti-mouse (1:250). The slides were also treated with ProLong Gold Antifade Reagent that contained DAPI to stain for cell nuclei. The slides were then visualized on a fluorescence microscope and images were captured using SPOT RT Slider imaging system. The background color of the microscope images was adjusted using Adobe Photoshop.

Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. One-way analysis of variance followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test was used for the statistical analysis. Statistical differences were considered significant if P <0.05.

Results

Cytochrome P450 4F11 is expressed highly in the Orbital Frontal Cortex.

To understand the expression levels of the CYP4Fs in the orbital frontal cortex of the human brain we performed qRT-PCR using specific primer and probe sets that distinguish between each isoform in the CYP4F family. 100ng of RNA from each sample was analyzed and plotted in Figure 3.1. We found that CYP4F11 is the most highly expressed CYP4F isoform in the orbital frontal cortex. There was little to no expression of CYP4F2 and CYP4F3B in the brain samples. CYP4F3A was the next most abundant isoform expressed followed by CYP4F12. Numerically, CYP4F11 represented 88% of the CYP4F family presence in the orbital frontal cortex and had 20000-25000 transcripts per 100ng of RNA. The order of relative abundance is described as CYP4F11 > CYP4F3A > CYP4F12 > CYP4F3B ~ CYP4F2

Gender does not affect CYP4F expression in brain

Studies have shown that gender can be a factor in the expression of CYP enzymes [76, 77]. To elucidate whether gender plays a role in CYP4F expression in brain, the data obtained from male (n=11) and female (n=8) samples was compared and demonstrated that gender does not play a significant role in the expression of CYP4Fs in the orbital frontal cortex (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.1. CYP4F Isoform Transcript Copy Numbers In Human

Brain. A) Total RNA from samples listed in Table 3.1 were used to asses the mRNA transcript numbers of CYP4F isoforms in the brain.B) CYP4F11 shows the highest level of transcript copies compared to other CYP4F's.





qRT-PCR was used to obtain transcript copy numbers for each CYP4F isoform and compared between male and female samples to determine if gender has an affect on CYP4F expression in the brain. We determined that there were no significant gender differences seen in any CYP4F isoform's expression in the brain.

CYP4F11 expression is more abundant in African Americans compared to Caucasians

There is growing evidence that ethnicity may play a role in the expression of CYP enzymes [78-81]. To determine if ethnicity was a factor in the expression of the CYP4F family of enzymes we analyzed the expression of each isoform in the orbital frontal cortex of each of our samples. We then compared the African American samples (n=14) to the Caucasian samples (n=5) for each isoform and determined differences if any in the expression of the enzyme (Figure 3.3). We found that CYP4F11 is expressed in high quantities in the African American population as compared to the Caucasian population. CYP4F2 on the other hand showed a greater presence in the Caucasian population as compared to the African population of CYP4F2 was either low or absent in the sample population. However, due to the variance in the Caucasian population this finding was not significant at the P<0.05 level. This trend was also seen in the expression of CYP4F3B and CYP4F12. CYP4F3A, however, showed few differences in expression between the two ethnic populations.

Figure 3.3 Ethnicity Differences of CYP4F Isoforms In Human Brain.

qRT-PCR transcript copy number comparison between African American and Caucasian samples to determine if ethnicity has an affect on CYP4F expression in the brain. CYP4F11 expression in African Americans is significantly higher than in their Caucasian counterparts. CYP4F2, CYP4F3B and CYP4F12 showed higher expression in Caucasian samples, but it was not statistically significant at the P<0.05 level. There also was no difference in CYP4F3A expression between the two ethnicities.











4F11 Ethnicity Differences
Cytochrome P450 4F11 is expressed selectively in both glial and neuronal cells

Immunofluorescent techniques were used to determine the expression of the protein in human brain samples. We used microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP-2) to stain for neuronal cells, and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) to stain for glial cells, specifically astrocytes, in the brain (Figure 3.4 and Figure 3.5). CYP4F11 is being expressed in both glial and neuronal cells, but in specific cell types of each. The merged picture shows the overlap of CYP4F11 and either MAP-2 or GFAP. It also appears that the CYP4F11 is not present in the nuclei of these cells.

Figure 3.4. Localization of CYP4F11 Protein In Human Brain Glial Cells.

A) Immuno-fluorescent slide of human brain, DAPI staining of nuclei.
B) GFAP (1:1000) in green staining glial cells C) CYP4F11 (1:100) in red. D) Merged picture showing overlap of GFAP and CYP4F11.
There are also areas of no overlap representing CYP4F11 being expressed in other cells





Figure 3.5. Localization of CYP4F11 Protein In Human Brain.

A) Immuno-fluorescent slide of human brain. CYP4F11 (1:100) in red and GFAP (1:1000) in green with DAPI staining of nuclei. Highlighted area shows that there is overlap of CYP4F11 and Glial Cells B) CYP4F11 (1:100) in red and MAP2 (1:1000) in green with DAPI staining of nuclei. Highlighted area shows that there is overlap of CYP4F11 and Neurons.

Discussion

Currently many cytochrome identification studies in the brain have shown the expression of the Cytochrome P450 families 1,2 and 3 in the brain [82-84]. However, recently there have been significant strides in identifying CYP4F expression in the brains of animals. These papers have focused on the importance of the endogenous compound metabolism and the pathways by which CYP4F metabolites may have on regulatory functions. There have been a few studies that identify human CYP4Fs in brain, but none that have taken a comprehensive look at the human CYP4F family expression [85-87]. In the current study we were able to show that the expression of CYP4Fs in the human orbital frontal cortex is dominated by CYP4F11. This finding is surprising because many CYP4Fs that are expressed in small quantities in the brain are expressed in large quantities in other tissues, as shown in Chapter 2 of this dissertation. However, what was not surprising was finding expression of CYP4F11. CYP4F11 was first identified and cloned from brain tissue and identified in other tissues as well, so its presence was expected [35]. The presence of a strong CYP4F11 expression provides further evidence that the brain may have evolved to express specific isoforms to perform multiple tasks. Kalsotra et al., reported that CYP4F11 was able to metabolize a great variety of pharmaceutical drugs including erythromycin, benzphetamine, imipramine and verapamil with acceptable turn-over rates [88]. However, the authors also show that although the turn-over rate for endogenous compounds such as leukotriene B₄ (LTB₄) is not as high as those of other CYP4F isoform

family members, CYP4F11 is still able to metabolize this compound and others such as the conversion of arachidonic acid (AA) to 20-HETE [88].

The presence of high CYP4F11 mRNA concentration in brain led us to investigate the localization of CYP4F11 protein in the brain. We found that CYP4F11 protein is located in both neuronal and glial cells. Since CYP4F11 is able to metabolize both endogenous compounds like AA and xenobiotics such as drugs, we believe this dual cell type expression is beneficial for the brain functions of signaling and detoxification. A majority of CYP enzymes have been reported to localize to neuronal cells [89, 90]. The localization of CYP4F11 in neuronal cells could prove to be important because the site of action for psychoactive drugs is in the neurons [91].

When determining the expression levels of each CYP4F isoform we found little to no expression of CYP4F2 and CYP4F3B in the brain, and as mentioned earlier in this dissertation these two enzymes metabolize AA into 20-HETE. As mentioned in the introduction of this chapter, 20-HETE is important in the neurovascular system of the brain and production of this compound would have to happen in the cells closest to the site of blood flow, such as the glial cells. The presence of CYP4F11 in the glial cells and the virtual absence of expression of CYP4F3B and CYP4F2 suggests a prominent physiological role for CYP4F11 in brain may be the conversion of AA into 20-HETE. Metea et al., were able to show that when the CYP4F ω -hydroxylation of AA is inhibited with HET0016 in glial cells, vasoconstriction is blocked [92].

We found that the expression of CYP4F11 protein may not be present in all neuronal and glial cells. Dutheil et al., recently published a review which reported when CYPs are expressed in the brain they are usually seen in specific cell types and are not ubiquitously expressed throughout brain regions [71]. Further research needs to be conducted with samples from a larger set of brain regions to define specific markers for the many different types of neuronal and glial cells in the brain.

This current study also shows that gender plays no obvious role in the expression of CYP4F isoforms in the orbital frontal cortex. There have been many reports that provide evidence that gender can affect the expression of CYPs. Waxman et al., recently published a review of CYP families 1,2 and 3 showing how sex differences cause changes in expression of the CYPs [77]. In the future, with additional brain regions and larger sample sizes, a significant differences in expression between genders may emerge, but our study did not find any.

We did find that ethnicity-based differences in expression does occur between African Americans and Caucasians. Our data shows that African Americans express CYP4F11 at a significantly higher rate than Caucasians. The Ravindranath laboratory also found that in the Indian population CYP4F11 was expressed at a much higher level compared to the other CYP4F family members (personal communication). A large number of our sample group consisted of African American samples, so the addition of more Caucasian samples would help in identifying whether CYP4F11 can be expressed in a high quantity in this group. We examined the promoter region of CYP4F11 for single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) Figure 3.6. Using HapMap (www.hapmap.org), we found

that a SNP labeled rs3810427(C/A) occurs at a rate of .868/.132 in African Americans while it is .496/.504 for most Caucasians while the other SNPs in Figure 3.6 were equal in both ethnicities. This means that the C nucleotide occurs 87% of the time in African Americans while in Caucasians this occurrence is only 50%. The SNP in this region could be in a critical promoter region binding site, or there also could be other SNPs in the gene that could be causing the difference in expression. This work is a preliminary attempt to understand the differences between the two ethnicities in CYP4F11 expression. Additional work is needed in this area to more fully understand any differences in expression. Other studies have also determined that ethnic differences play a role in the expression and function of many CYPs. Yamaori et al., for instance, reported that there was a difference in expression of CYP3A5 between Japanese and Caucasian subjects [81].

Our CYP4F expression work in human brain is a beginning for additional studies of CYP4Fs in the brain. As more work is done to identify the expression, localization and functional capabilities of CYPs in the brain is accomplished, there is a higher probability of identifying potential brain drug target opportunities and perhaps useful therapies. **Figure 3.6. 1.7kb 5'UTR of CYP4F11.** The promoter region is marked with annotation of SNPs that occur in the population. SNPs were located using HapMap, <u>www.hapmap.org</u>. and sequence was analyzed using Geneious (BioMatters)

CYP4F11 Full	1 1,748 1	25 1,724	50 1,699	75 1,6 ⁷	4	100 1,649	125 1,624	15C 1,5 ⁹) 1 9 1,	175 574	200 1,549	225 1,524	25 1,4	50 [99	275 1,474
	002	375		c,	375	400	4	5	450	rs34 475	¶ 1698697 500	rs118	79253 25	ק ג ח	5 75
CYP4F11 Full	1,449	1,424	1,3-	66	1,374	1,349	1.	324	1,299	1,274	1,249	1,	224	1,199	1,174
										rs1	¶ 2985091				
	6(1,1)0 [49]	625 ,124	650 1,099	675 1,074	7(+ 1,0	00 49	725 1,024	750 999	77 76	5 4	800 949 1	825 924 1	850 899	87! 87
			巾 s382695i	0								rs	7536984	18	
		900 849	925 824 1	950 799		975 774 1	1,000 749	1,02 724	5 1,' 6	050 199	1,075 674	1,100 649	1,12 62	25 1 4	,150 599
			°s782102	42				rs7	ر3524937	2					
CYP4F11 Full	1,175 574	1,200 549	1,2; 52	25 4	1,250 499	1,275 474	1,3 44	6.	1,325 424	1,350 399	1,375 374	1,4 3,5	-00 19	1,425 324 1	1,450 299
	rs75	904214	d n rs38104	28 rs3	810427	<u> </u>	s77513	336				s381042	22		
	1,4 27	75 1, 4 2	500 249	1,525 224	1,550 199	1,5 17	75 4	1,600 149	1,625 124	1,65 99	50 1	,675 74 1	1,700 49	1,725 24	1,748 1 1
			rs7352	4941							rs 169809)68		¶ rs735249	143

Chapter Four: Regulation of Cytochrome P450 4F11 by Nuclear Transcription Factor-Kappa B

Abstract

The mechanisms that regulate CYP4F genes are currently being studied in a number of laboratories, but the specific mechanisms for the regulation of these genes are not yet fully understood. This study shows that nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB) can inhibit CYP4F11 expression in human liver carcinoma cell line (HepG2). Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), a proinflammatory cytokine has been shown to activate NF-kB signaling while also making active the c-Jun N-terminal Kinases (JNK) signaling pathway. Previous studies have reported that JNK signaling can up-regulate CYP4F11 expression, and in this study we have determined that in the presence of TNF- α and the specific NF-kB translocation inhibitor IMD-0354 there is a greater increase in CYP4F11 expression, indicating that NF-kB may be playing an inhibitory role. Furthermore, NF-KB stimulation by over-expression of Mitogen-activated protein/ ERK Kinase Kinase (MEKK) inhibited CYP4F11 promoter expression. We were also able to rescue CYP4F11 promoter inhibition in the presence of TNF- α when p65, a NF-kB protein, was knocked down. Thus, the CYP4F11 gene is negatively regulated by NF-κB signaling pathways.

Background

The release of several cytokines including tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interleukin (IL)-1, IL-1b, and IL-6 from activated immune cells in patients with a disease with an inflammatory component, or infection occur as part of the activation of systemic host defense mechanisms. This defense mechanism and the release of these cytokines usually results in the down-regulation of many isoforms of cytochrome P450 (CYP) [93-98]. This is important due to the known responsibilities of the CYP systems in the metabolism of drugs used in treatment of such conditions as well as steroids, lipid soluble vitamins, prostaglandins, leukotrienes. If there is a disruption in the balance of these enzymes to metabolize their substrates there could be an alteration in the production or elimination of these substances and an interruption in the balance between the detoxification and metabolic bioactivation in the body.

One of the prominent cytokines, TNF- α , is known to be released during many types of infections and inflammatory diseases [95], and in our current study we used this cytokine to define the effects its presence has on the regulation of cytochrome P450 4F11, an isoform of the 4F family that has a substrate profile that includes not only endogenous compounds but also xenobiotics specifically drugs [88]. TNF- α stimulation causes an activation of two signal transduction pathways the c-Jun N-terminal Kinases (JNK) and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) pathways [99-101]. Our previous studies have examined the role JNK and retinoic acids play in the regulation of CYP4F11 and have found that JNK stimulation causes an increase in CYP4F11 mRNA while

retinoids cause down-regulation of CYP4F11 mRNA [102]. However, we did not examine the effects of NF- κ B on CYP4F11 expression during TNF- α stimulation.

To understand at a deeper level the regulation of CYP4F11 expression during inflammation we show in this study that TNF-α and MEKK over-expression can down-regulate CYP4F11 expression in NF-κB dependent manner. Our results suggest that there is an intricate regulatory system for control of expression of CYP4F11 during conditions wherein inflammatory modulators are released.

Materials and Methods

Chemicals

N-[3,5-Bis(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]-5-chloro-2-hydroxybenzamide (IMD-0354) was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). TNFα was a gift from Dr. Jianping Jin (University of Texas-Houston). IL-1 were bought from Invitrogen Inc. (Carlsbad, CA). Polyclonal anti-CYP4F11 antibody was provided by Proteintech Group, Inc. (Chicago, IL). Rel B and p65 antibodies were bought from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA).

Cell Culture

HepG2 cell line was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). Cells were grown at 37°C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂ in Minimum Essential Medium (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Atlas Biologicals, Fort Collins, CO), L-glutamine and Pen/strep antibiotics.

Protein Isolation and Western Blot Analyses

Protein isolation and western blot analyses for cells in culture were accomplished using the protocol reported by Wang et al., 2010 [102]. Briefly, Cells were washed two times with ice cold phosphate-buffered saline and then quickly detached by gently scraping the plate. Collected cells were spun down at 4500rpm for 2min at 4°C, in a microcentrifudge and stored at -80°C. Lysates were then prepared using 50mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH6.8, with 2% SDS. Cell pellets were dissolved in the lysate buffer then boiled at 95°C for 5 minutes. The cell lysate was then cleared by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 5 minutes in a microcentrifudge. Protein concentrations of the clear supernatant fraction were measured using the bicinchoninic acid assay kit (Pierece, Rockford, IL) and subjected to Western blot analysis.

Protein samples were boiled in Laemmli buffer and resolved electrophoretically on 4 - 20% gradient Tris-glycine-SDS-polyacrylamide gels (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). Proteins were transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride membranes (wet transfer apparatus; Bio-Rad Laboratories). Membranes were blocked with 5% dried non-fat milk in Tris Buffer with .05% Tween for 1 hour. Membranes were incubated overnight with antibodies raised against CYP4F11 (1:1000 dilution), Rel B (1:1000), p65 (1:1000), or GAPDH (1:10,000). The membrane was then washed and incubated at room temperature with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:2000 dilution) for 1 hour. Immunoreactivty was visualized using a horseradish peroxidase chemiluminescense system (Pierce).

Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction

Cells were rinsed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and total RNA was isolated using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen). DNase I (Invitrogen) was used to alleviate DNA contamination. Aliquots (100 ng) of total RNA were reverse-transcribed by SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen) in triplicate, including a reverse transcription blank to evaluate presence of contaminating genomic DNA. Amplification was performed using Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen) with an ABI Prism 7700 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) at 95°C for 1min, followed by 40 cycles at 95°C for 12s and 60°C for 30s. *CYP4F11* mRNA levels were measured using standard curves generated by plotting Ct versus the log of the amount of purified amplicon for *CYP4F11* (custom synthesis by Invitrogen) (200ag - 2pg). Abundance of human 18S RNA was used as an internal control. Primers and fluorescent probe sequences for CYP4F11 and 18S RNA are reported in Table 4.1.

Plasmids

pGL3-CYP4F11 plasmid mutants were constructed using human genomic DNA as a template for PCR. The primer pairs for each mutant are listed in Table 5.2. The products were all 3' promoter regions of the CYP4F11 (GenBank accession no. NG_0008335). The PCR products were then cloned into HindIII- and Nhel- digested linear pGL3 Basic lucifearse vector (Promega, Madison, WI) using the infusion Advantage PCR Cloning Kit (Clontech, Mountain View, CA).

Transfection and Luciferase Assays

Cells were transfected using Fugene HD Reagent (Roche, Indianapolis, IN) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells were seeded onto 24 well plates (5 x 10⁴ cells/well). 24 hours after seeding, cells were transfected at a recommended Reagent:DNA ratio of 4.5:1 with 0.5 μg DNA/well including .03 μg of phRL-SV40 (Promega). Total amount of DNA was maintained at a constant concentration by adding empty pcDNA3 vector when appropriate. After 24 h of transfection, TNF- α (10 ng/ml) or IMD-0354 (1 ng/ml) treatment was given for 24 h.

RNAi

Double-stranded, siRNAs targeting p65 were designed and synthesized by Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO) 5'GACAUUGAGGUGUAUUUCA3', 5'UGAAAUACACCUCAAUGUC3', and reverse transfected into HepG2 cells using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Invitrogen). In short, 24 well plates were seeded (5 x 10^4 cells/well) in the presence of 6 (pmol) and $1\mu l$ of Lipofectamine RNAiMAX in $100\mu l$ of Opti-Mem I Serum (Invitrogen). Total media volume was $600\mu l$ for a final RNAi duplex concentration of 10 nM.

Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analysis

Binding of p65 transcription factor to the human CYP4F11 promoter region was determined by ChIP assay according to manufacturer's protocol (Active Motif, Carlsbad, CA). HepG2 cells after either 1 or 24 h treatment with TNF- α (10ng/ml) were fixed using 1% formaldehyde in modified Eagle's medium for 10 min at 37°C. The cells were then washed 1x in cold PBS, then treated with 125 mM glycine to

terminate the cross-linking reaction. The cells were washed again with ice cold PBS, and collected in PBS containing 1mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride and Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Active Motif, Carlsbad, CA). The cells were lysed and sonicated to shear chromatin. 15 μ g of chromatin was then incubated overnight at 4°C with antibody directed against p65. PCR was used to amplify the 222bp region upstream of the start site of CYP4F11 from the purified DNA-protein immune complexes. PCR products were run on 2% agarose gel and visualized after ethidum bromide staining. Controls for the assay were performed using IgG and input template DNA.

Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. One-way analysis of variance followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test was used for the statistical analysis. Statistical differences were considered significant if P <0.05.

Database Sequence Analysis

The TRANSFAC database (BIOBASE, Beverly, MA) was searched using AliBaba 2.1 (BIOBASE) for putative NFκ-B binding sites on the 5' flanking sequence (2000 base pairs from the ATG start codon) of *CYP4F11* gene.

Results

NF-kB inhibition increases expression of CYP4F11

Our lab recently published that CYP4F11 expression is increased upon stimulation with TNF- α in Keratinocyte HaCaT cells [102]. TNF- α activates two pathways, one being the JNK pathway which we have reported can up-regulate CYP4F11 through AP-1 binding site, and the NF-kB signaling pathway. It was our intention to understand what role this transcription factor played in regulation of CYP4F11. We first determined that 24-hour treatment of TNF-α (10ng/ml) caused an up-regulation of CYP4F11 mRNA in HepG2 cells measured by guantitative realtime polymerase chain reaction (gRT-PCR). To understand the role NF-kB may have on the expression of CYP4F11, we inhibited the ability of NF-kB to translocate to the nucleus from the cytoplasm using the chemical inhibitor IMD-0354 (1ng/ml). HepG2 cells were co-treated with both the inhibitor and TNF- α (10ng/ml) (Figure 4.1). There was a significant increase in the expression of CYP4F11 transcripts as compared to control vehicle. Realizing that NF-κB played a role in CYP4F11 expression after observing an up-regulation of the gene when translocation of NF-kB to the nucleus was inhibited, we looked 2000bp upstream of the start site of the gene in TRANSFAC database using the program AliBaba 2.1 for predictions of transcription factor binding sites (Figure 4.2). The website predicted 5 different NF-kB binding sites in the promoter region of CYP4F11.



Figure 4.1. NF-κB inhibition increases expression of CYP4F11. Up-regulation of CYP4F11 transcripts by inhibition of NF-κB. HepG2 cells were treated with 10ng/ml of TNF + or - IMD-0354 (1ng/ml) NF-κB inhibitor for 24 hours. Cells treated with 0.1% DMSO were used as the vehicle control. Expression of CYP4F11 was quantitated by qRT-PCR. Each data point represents n=6

200 777 777	A CA	C NG	TTC	GAC	C TG	G CT	1000 C		
T CA CT A G T GA	4 GACTG CTGAC	60 6 V G A G G G	800 G TTTG CAAAC	1,000 TTGGC	ctcct ctcct	400 d ccAG cGG TC	00 G GA GG C C T C C	0 - 805	
190 TTTAA TTTAA	90 cgrcr	TTCCC	TCTAT	TTA CC		1,4 TAGGA A TCCT	1,6(TTAA CT A TTGA	1, 2 0 0 0 0	
20 CA CI	3 ITTCT	59 7 CC CG	790 CAG TT	990 CCG TG	CCTGA	90 FCTGA	0 SACACI	C CTAC	
TGAG	AA CG	TCAN	TCGT	AT CTV	TCAC	1,3 TIG CT	1,59 CTTT GAAA	1,790 TIC CAN	
TT CAA	GT CT 38	580 CC CAC	780 TCCCC AGGGG	980 ACATG TG TAC	CTGTG CTGTG GA CAC	S0 GTTC0	TTTCC	ACGGG	
70 TACAT ATG TA	0 ATATT TATAT	GTGAT	GG TAA	TCAGA	1, CCA TG GG TA C	1,31 TGG GA	1,58(CTCTC GAGAG	1,780 ccd rc gg cAG	
I CACTT STGAA.	37	570 570 cccdA	770 aAcco	970 adAge cerca	NCA CO	0 3 TA TG CA TA C	TCT CT NGA GA	CCATC	
NGG TA	VGAAC	NGGAG	LAT CT	CCT CT	1,1 IATCC CTAGGI	1,37 sign gd	1,570 and co	VCCCT VCCCT	
16 IGAGTJ	360 ATTT	560 GT CC	760 PCTAAJ	160 ATGTC	A CG C	0 IGA GA (CCT CT (ATTA	TC CC	
0 0 10 CM COL	GTGTC	CCTGA	TA TCI	ACCA	1,1 AGACO TCTGG	1,36 Aggdo	1,560 GA TT G	CAGGA GTCC7	
AG CAG	350 GTCAT	550 GG AAG CCTTC	750 CTCTT GAGAA	50 cc rgg gg A cc	50 TG TTG ACAAC	TCGTC	TT TTG	DaB CCGGA	
TCTCG	CT CAG	TCTAC	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	9 GAACT CTTGA	1,1 TGAGA ACTCT	1,35(CT CCT GA GGA	1,550 ad ccr ccdaA	cccrg gggac	
14 TATAT ATATA	340 ATTA TAAT	540 TT CCC AA GGG	740 TCCAG AGGTC	40 ATGAT TA CTA	10 TCCAC	TT CTG	CCGAC		'n
D TTT	CTTT	CCCAT	TCTCC	9 20 TGC	1,14 CA CTC	1,340 Ng ch. rccgt	1,540 ATTCA	740 crada	Ű
13(rccAci	330 TGT	530 TGTA	730 ag ta t ccatal	SO SAAT CTTTA	0 CCTCC	10 CCAG1	CA G TG	appaB	gh gh
NCA G T	VCCAT	NTA GA	CTC CA	9: VCTGA (VGA CT	1,13 ATCC CTAGG	1,330 2Addd	1,530 cerce	730 Proga	
ACACA ACACA	320 CA CA CA	520 GCCT1 CCGGAA	20 TAGCO	0 CTGCA GA CG 1	TCAA G	AAAT (G CAA (C	1, GTCC1 CAGGA	thi thi
TAGAO	CCTGG	GATTO	GAACO	92 ATTCA	1,12 CTTCC GAAGG	1,320 TCCGG	,520 cccro	720 CCACT	ed le
110 AGAAC	310 GAGTA CTCAT	510 cccc1 gg gg A	TA CGA	0 AGAGG	TGACT	TCGGA	TGGA C	1, CCTTT GGAAA	si art ilat
TA CA T A TG TA	A T A C A TA TG T	CTGTC GA CAG	7 ct cc t gagga	91 CTGAA	1,11(ACCTT TGGAA	1,310 cc ch c dd d f d	GTAAC CATTG	710 TTGCC	ng lict
100 NCGAG	300 31ACA	S00 SAGA	D0 CTGTC SA CAG	IG TCT ACAGA	CT CAG	ADD DG CCT	rc cro	1,1 STAGG	
LT TG T	CAA CAA	CTAGG	70 TOT DO	90(1,100 setta	1,300 VG CCT	500 NG ATT NF-Ka	D0 D1 D1 D1 D1 D1 D1 D1 D1 D1 D1 D1 D1 D1	ns ns
90 ATCA	290 24 GTA	appaB	00 NG AGG	24 GGA (A CCC	00000 M	L NG ACCI	1,7 CA GCA	g c g
D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	CACA CA	NF-k	60 GGGTJ	890 A 66 C 6	1,090	1,290 d cccu	490 GGGAG	90 CCTC 0	ear edi
A CCAG	280 CTTGG	80 9 CCCA	0 TACC7 A TGGA	G CCA G	C TG TA	C TGG 1	1, g ccrg	A TCTO	- str
TCTAG	GA G CA	4 CTAAG GATTC	AG CCT TCGGA	880 GTGAA CA CTT	1,080 ad Tag ccAcc	,280 ad crc ccaAd	180 TG CTG	pag	
70 GA CA T CTGTA	270 TCATA AGTAT	70 CC CA T GG GTA	0 CT CT C GA GA G	TCTGA	GG CAA	1 GGATT CCTAA	1, TTCCG	accr1 coon F-kap	bp ba
CA CT T G T GA A	TTTT TGAAA	4 CTGTC GACAG	67 67 67 67	870 crocc crocc	1,070 GGAAG CCTTC	,270 cargo graco	470 GGGTC CCCAG	70 TCAGA AGTCT	
60 TCCAC	260 GA CA C CTGTG	TT CA T AA GTA	CT CA T GA GTA	TTGA G	C C T T C C G A A	CA GTC GTCAG	1, 00 00 T 00 C C C C A	1,6.	N C R
T G T G T	GT CA C	4 AA TCT TTAGA	AT CCA TA GG T	860 ACTTG TGAAC	1,060 crcrr gagaa	,260 ACACC TG TG G	160 TCCAA	50 TTTA C AAATG	
50 CTGTG CTGTG	250 GCACA CGTGT	50 CT CA G GA GT C	00000	CG TCC	CCACA 56 TG T	T CTG	1,1 00000 00001	1,6	
GT CTT	CCCA CCCA	4 CCCTC 566A6	65 cc cra	850 TG GAG	1,050 ATCTG TAGAC	,250 ctroc	150 160 A CT CC TGA	TCAGC NG TCG	
40 AGAG	PETCG	NG TGACT	C TG T	TTG CC	NC TTT	1 CCAGG	1,4 agagg	1,65 VGATC	
A TAC	C TG TU	44 G GGAJ	640 CCCT CCCT	840 CT 666	1,040	240 TTGC	40 IA TGG	C TTTJ	
30 CGCT	30 A TTT TAAAJ	0 G G G A J	C TCTC	00000	TTCAN	1, G TTG C	1,4 GACC	1,64 CTGGJ	
AG GCA	C CAA G CAA G	43 CCAG C	630 CCCCAT	830 Accon	CTCTC CTCTC GAGAG	TTTC TTTTC MAAAC	30 GA CCG	CATTT	
20 AGAGT TCTCA	20 AAGAA TTCTT	TCGA C	CCAG G	TCTCG AGAG C	CTGAA GA CTT		1,4. 000070	1,63(TTGGG	
CA CC C	2 GAACA CTTGT	42 GTGCT CA CGA	620 CTCAG	820 TCATG AG TA C	.020 GCCA C	220 CTACG	20 ctgga ga cct	TTTCA	
10 CCCAG	10 TGGCT	CTAAA GATTT	CT CCA	GTCAG	CTCTT GAGAA	1, ACCGG	1,4. CAGGG GTCCC	1,62(crod r GA ccA	
G CG TA	2 AGAGGI	41 TCGTC	610 TTCCT	S10 CTCCT GAGGA	,010 ccact 66 TGA	CCAG C	LO TCACO	CCGA C	
CTA(ATA	55	AA TI	GATA	0000	1,1 0 T 0 0 T 0	1,4] 66 C	CTTV CTTV GAA	

CYP4F11 promoter activity is downregulated after HepG2 activation by TNF- α and MEKK overexpression.

To determine the TNF- α regulatory region in the *CYP4F11* promoter, we cloned the 1.7kb region upstream of *CYP4F11* exon-2 transcription initiation site into pGL3 basic luciferase vector. We first determined the basal promoter activity, then activity after treatment with TNF- α and MEKK overexpression in HepG2 cells. As seen in Figure 4.3A, MEKK and TNF- α treatment of the transfected cells resulted in a 70-75% reduction in *CYP4F11* promoter activity. TNF- α and MEKK treatment up-regulated control NF- κ B luciferase reporter vector activity (Figure 4.3B) but had no effect on pGL3 basic luciferase an overall up-regulation of *CYP4F11* transcripts as seen previously in Figure 4.1, the promoter inhibition is accomplished through NF- κ B activation. These data are confirmed through the over-expression of MEKK which causes a constitutively active NF- κ B protein that also down-regulates CYP4F11 promoter activity.



Figure 4.3. TNF-*α* **and MEKK suppresses CYP4F11 promoter activity.** HepG2 cells were transfected with 1.7kb *CYP4F11* promoter-pGL3 basic luciferase (A) or NF-κB luciferase (B) or pGL3-basic luciferase (C) reporter vector. 24 hours post-transfection, the cells were treated with TNF-*α* (10 ng/ml) for 24 hours and luciferase activity was measured. Measuring *Renilla* luciferase activity of co-transfected phRL-SV40 normalized the transfection efficiencies.

NF-kB responsive region is present in the first 200bp of CYP4F11 promoter

The prediction of five NF-kB binding sites by AliBaba 2.1 enabled us to create three deletion mutants to determine the functional importance of these predicted binding sites (Figure 4.4A) Each construct deletes a predicted NF-kB binding site. The last 1.5kb mutant construct deleted 3 predicted NF-kB binding sites that were within 100bp of each other. HepG2 cells were transiently transfected with all the 5' deletion constructs with or without MEKK expression plasmid and treated with or without TNF-a. All the 5'-deletion constructs of the CYP4F11 promoter were down regulated by TNF- α and MEKK except the 1.5kb bp CYP4F11 promoter (Figure 4.4B). This result suggests that the NF-KB responsive region should be within the first 200bp of CYP4F11 promoter. A chromatin immunopercipitation assay was run on the first 222bp of CYP4F11 promoter region to see whether the p65 transcription factor was binding to the promoter region to cause an inhibition of the promoter. Figure 4.5 shows that the protein does bind to the region, and the relative amount of protein binding the region is TNF- α activation time-dependent. The time-dependency of activation of NF- κ B and JNK have been reported by many labs [101, 103].

Figure 4.4. NF-κB responsive region present in the first 200bp of **CYP4F11 promoter.** (A) Deletion constructs of CYP4F11 promoter (B) HepG2 cells were transiently co-transfected with 4 different 5'-deletion constructs of CYP4F11 promoter luciferase reporter with or without MEKK-pcDNA3 and phRL-SV40 to normalize the transfection efficiencies. TNF-α (10 ng/ml) treatment was initiated 24 hours post-transfection for 24 hours. Luciferase activity was measured 48 hours after transfection.



В 200 * 167 Relative Luciferase Activity 133 # 100 × 67 * * 33 0 MEKK 2 _ _ _ _ + -+ --+ + TNF-a -+ --+ -+ _ _ + --4F11 promoter Luciferase 1.7kb 1.2kb 222bp 1.5kb

А



Figure 4.5. NF-κB binds to first 200bp region of CYP4F11 promoter. ChIP assays performed in HepG2 cells that had been treated with TNF-α (10 ng/ml) or vehicle control for 1 hour and 24 hours. The pull down of p65 is seen in the 200bp amplicon region in both 1 and 24 hours.

NF-κB is required for CYP4F11 down-regulation

The next goal was to determine the importance of NF- κ B in the downregulation of *CYP4F11* in response to TNF- α . We achieved this by using the IKK α phosphorylation inhibitor IMD-0354. This drug inhibits the translocation of NF- κ B to the nucleus, thus preventing any regulatory controls NF- κ B exerts on its response genes. HepG2 cells were transiently transfected with each CYP4F11 deletion luciferase promoter construct, then co-treated with TNF- α (10 ng/ml and IMD-0354 (1 ng/ml). As shown in Figure 4.6, CYP4F11 promoter activity is not downregulated by TNF- α in the presence of IMD-0354. To make sure there were no drug interactions that were affecting the results, the experiment was repeated in HepG2 cells in the presence of siRNA that knocks down p65 thus preventing expression. Figure 4.7 shows that after p65 knockdown and in the presence of TNF- α or overexpression of MEKK down-regulation of CYP4F11 does not occur. These data clearly suggest that CYP4F11 down-regulation requires p65 or NF- κ B. **Figure 4.6. IMD-0354 inhibition of NF-κB releases inhibition of CYP4F11 transcripts.** HepG2 cells were transiently transfected with CYP4F11 deletion promoter constructs 24 hours after being plated. Cells were then co-treated with TNF- α and IMD-0354 (NF-κB translocation inhibitor) 24 hours post transfection for 24 hours and then luciferase activity was measured. Measuring *Renilla* luciferase activity of co-transfected phRL-SV40 normalized the transfection efficiencies.





Figure 4.7. TNF-*α* **and MEKK mediated down-regulation of CYP4F11 promoter is NF-***κ***B dependent:** HepG2 cells were reverse transfected with siRNA against p65 with lipofectamine RNAiMAX. 24 hours post transfection, HepG2 cells were transiently transfected with CYP4F11 luciferase deletion promoter constructs. Cells were then treated with TNF-*α* 24 hours post luciferase transfection for 24 hours and then luciferase activity was measured. Measuring *Renilla* luciferase activity of co-transfected phRL-SV40 normalized the transfection efficiencies.

Discussion

The ability for cytokines, prostaglandins and other inflammatory mediators to alter the expression of many different CYPs has been the subject of many different studies [61, 97, 104, 105]. The importance of this work stems from the effects that changes in CYP levels have on the metabolism of many drugs, on the homeostasis of steroid hormones and on the ability of CYPs to detoxify xenobiotics. The effects of inflammation on CYP expression are varied, but the predominant effect is that inflammatory cytokines suppress the gene expression of most CYPs. In the current study we have presented a novel regulatory role for CYP4F11 expression during an inflammatory response. We have shown that activation of the NF- κ B pathway by TNF- α stimulation or over-expression of MEKK causes down-regulation of CYP4F11 transcripts. However, what makes this unique is that the inhibition of native CYP4F11 is not seen in the presence of TNF- α after 24 hours (Figure 4.1) as was seen in this study and in a previous study [102]. We believe this is due to the signal transduction properties of TNF- α . It is believed that the c-Jun N-terminal Kinases (JNK) pathway and the NF-kB pathways are both stimulated in the presence of TNF- α ; however, they are competing forces [106]. The up-regulation of CYP4F11 mRNA in the presence of TNF- α is due to the stimulation of the JNK pathway [102], however this is time dependent and does not reach a level of significance until 24 hours after treatment as observed in our laboratory. This was confirmed in the ChIP analysis where at 1 hour there was a large increase in p65 bound CYP4F11 transcripts that remained constant at 24 hours.

The inhibition seen in CYP4F11 promoter constructs is driven mainly by NFκB activation. We were able to show this in various experiments including inhibiting translocation of NF-κB to the nucleus and then treating HepG2 cells with TNF-α (Figure 4.1). This resulted in a large increase of transcripts leading us to believe that although JNK is a strong stimulator of CYP4F11 expression, NF-κB may be playing an inhibitory role. After determining that NF-kB inhibition caused a decrease in promoter activity in our constructs (Figure 4.4) we then utilized chemical inhibition (Figure 4.6) and protein knockdown (Figure 4.7) of NF-kB and determined the effects on the promoter activity. We found that in those cases there was either control level expression or over-expression of CYP4F11 gene. This led us to believe that the down-regulation of CYP4F11 is NF-kB dependent. The cases of over-expression can be explained by the activation of the areas in the promoter region that have AP-1 binding sites which would create higher levels of expression of CYP4F11 in the presence of JNK activation. This mechanism was described in a recent paper published by our lab in Drug Metabolism and Disposition 2010 [102]. In short, JNK activation causes activation of AP-1 protein which regulates expression through the AP1 binding site on a gene's promoter. In the 1.7kb CYP4F11 promoter construct there are five AP-1 binding sites positioned throughout the promoter region and when TNF- α is present JNK signaling can still occur and elicit regulation of the CYP4F11 promoter construct. Overall, this finding is just one piece of a very complicated mix of regulatory networks that lead to the regulation of CYP4F11, and with each finding the pieces of the puzzle are beginning to fit. This is pictorially represented in Figure 4.8. Overall, we believe

that this regulation of CYP4F11 may be an important mechanism of compensation in cells. As most CYPs are down regulated during the inflammatory response it is unique that CYP4F11 is up-regulated. CYP4F11 has the ability to compensate for the metabolism profiles of CYP4F2 and CYP4F3A/B as these enzymes are downregulated during an inflammatory response. However this theory needs to be tested further with functional studies that can show the effects of inflammatory response on activity. This, in addition to regulatory sites found for CYP4F11, may help investigators develop drug therapies to one or several regulatory sites to modulate pathological inflammation.



Figure 4.8. Summary of TNF-α Regulation of CYP4F11 Expression. Diagram of regulation of CYP4F11 expression. TNF-α activates pathways for JNK and NF- κ B, these two pathways although both activated are able to regulate genes that oppose each other. What we have found is that the longer TNF-α is present and activating its receptor the more the JNK pathway is activated, this activation up-regulates CYP4F11 expression, however other signaling that can activate NF- κ B would cause an inhibition of CYP4F11.

Chapter Five: Conclusions, Significance and Future Directions
Localization of CYP4Fs

Although work on the Cytochrome P450 4F family began in the 1990's there, is still more work that needs to be done to understand fully all the characteristics of this family. This current work in identifying the mRNA level of expression of the CYP4F family in different human tissues is novel in itself and is an important step in translating what we have learned in the animal models to human studies. While localizing and determining the relative quantities of the CYP4Fs in the liver, lung, spleen, kidney, heart and brain are very important, finding that these enzyme profiles change in the presence of inflammatory mediators helps in understanding regulation of these enzymes. This is important because it is the first time its been shown that human patient samples change CYP4F expression levels in a disease state. It also demonstrates the importance of animal model testing, where studies have shown that injury causes significant changes in the CYP4F expression profile.

It is important to next examine the protein levels of each isoform in these tissues. This has currently been a problem because of 1) the high homology between the CYP4F family which leads to 2) lack of specific antibodies for each isoform. This approach will show how the mRNA expression level relates to the protein functional expression in tissues. Another approach that should be pursued is identifying a specific inflammatory disease and obtain tissue samples from those patients in order to compare them to a specified control to determine the exact effects a known inflammatory disease model has on CYP4F expression and what functionality gain or loss is associated with it.

93

CYP4F11 expression in the brain

This research project identified the expression profile of the CYP4F family in the brain, and found hat CYP4F11 was expressed at high quantities. Knowing that CYP4F11 has a diverse substance specificity that ranges from xenobiotics to endogenous compounds, makes this finding even more relevant and important. It is important to note that the orbital frontal cortex is responsible for integrating emotion with behavior and is the site of a large number of neurotransmitter signaling processes. With the knowledge that 1) CYP4F11 is expressed at high levels in this region and 2) that the expression is present in both the neurons, site of neurotransmitter action, and glial cells, site or neuroinflammatory control, there is the possibility that the enzyme may be a potential drug target for different mental disease states affecting this region of the brain.

Future work studies should include additional brain regions. This study focused on the orbital frontal cortex, but the addition of other regions is needed because of the specificity that is seen in other CYPs expressed in the brain. Functional studies of CYP4F11 in the frontal cortex would also be beneficial to determine how this enzyme can function as a drug target.

NF-κB inhibits CYP4F11 expression

Work in our laboratory has focused on the regulation of the CYP4Fs during an inflammatory response. We have focused on this because of the role CYP4Fs play in decreasing inflammatory mediators such as leukotrienes and prostaglandins. This current study determined that CYP4F11 is negatively

94

regulated by the activation of NF- κ B. The importance of this finding is that while other research has shown that CYP4F11 is up-regulated by TNF- α stimulation this current research determined that if NF- κ B is blocked and cells are stimulated by TNF- α there is a three fold increase of expression. As more work is done on the role CYP4F11 has during an inflammatory response this information will be of use in determining the link between inflammation, CYP4F11 and cell metabolism function.

Conclusion

This research project has many parts that when placed together create a picture of how CYP4Fs are expressed and how inflammatory mediators especially TNF-a, play an important role in the regulation of this family of enzymes. We believe that the expression of CYP4F2 and CYP4F3B at high levels across a diverse array of tissues helps to create homeostasis in the body by regulating LTB₄ levels and 20-HETE levels in their specific organs. As inflammatory response signals infiltrate the tissue they are able to regulate the expression of these enzymes so that the normal host defense mechanism can take place. In the example of the liver presented in Chapter 2, inflammation increased CYP4F11 expression and the presence of CYP4F3B, but at the same time it caused a decrease in CYP4F2 expression. These regulatory functions are necessary both for the normal host defense process and then the subsequent return to normal functional state. The reduction in CYP4F2 helps to keep LTB₄ present at the site of infection or injury so that neutrophils can be recruited to area. The increase in

95

CYP4F11 and CYP4F3B helps to increase the levels of 20-HETE which has also been associated with the presence of inflammation [107]. As all of this is taking place during the pro-inflammatory state, the switch to the anti-inflammatory stage leads to a time dependent increase in CYP4F2, which provides greater LTB₄ metabolism while also decreasing the presence of CYP4F3B and CYP4F11 expression. This hypothesis of regulatory controls still needs further elaboration, but the work done in this current research project has added new pieces to the puzzle.

Vita

Jordan Bell was born in Houston Texas to Charlean Jordan and Ivy Bell. He has two brothers, one older and one younger Ivy and Charles respectively. He grew up in the Cypress Fairbanks school district, then was accepted to the University of Rochester to pursue a B.S. degree in Neuroscience. His first brush with research was when he was accepted into the Ronald McNair research program at the University of Rochester during his sophomore year. His research project was with Dr. James Ison working on sound localization. After college he joined Dr. Jean Bidlacks laboratory in the Pharmacology department at the University of Rochester Medical School through the PREP program. After a year of research with Dr. Bidlack he was admitted to the University of Texas Health Science Center and joined Dr. Henry Strobel's laboratory to work on cytochrome P450s.

Bibliography

- Nelson, D.R., T. Kamataki, D.J. Waxman, F.P. Guengerich, R.W. Estabrook, R. Feyereisen, F.J. Gonzalez, M.J. Coon, I.C. Gunsalus, and O. Gotoh, *The P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, accession numbers, early trivial names of enzymes, and nomenclature.* DNA and cell biology, 1993. **12**(1): p. 1-51.
- Danielson, P.B., *The cytochrome P450 superfamily: biochemistry, evolution and drug metabolism in humans.* Current drug metabolism, 2002. 3(6): p. 561-597.
- 3. OMURA, T. and R. SATO, *THE CARBON MONOXIDE-BINDING PIGMENT* OF LIVER MICROSOMES. I. EVIDENCE FOR ITS HEMOPROTEIN NATURE. The Journal of biological chemistry, 1964. **239**: p. 2370-2378.
- 4. de Montellano, P., *Cytochrome P450: structure, mechanism, and biochemistry.* books.google.com, 2005.
- Gonzalez, F.J. and D.W. Nebert, *Evolution of the P450 gene superfamily: animal-plant 'warfare', molecular drive and human genetic differences in drug oxidation.* Trends in genetics : TIG, 1990. 6(6): p. 182-186.
- Meyer, C.F., X. Wang, C. Chang, D. Templeton, and T.H. Tan, *Interaction between c-Rel and the mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 1 signaling cascade in mediating kappaB enhancer activation.* The Journal of biological chemistry, 1996. **271**(15): p. 8971-8976.

- Guengerich, F.P., *Cytochromes P450, drugs, and diseases.* Molecular interventions, 2003. 3(4): p. 194-204.
- Gonzalez, F.J., *Human cytochromes P450: problems and prospects.* Trends in pharmacological sciences, 1992. 13(9): p. 346-352.
- Kapitulnik, J. and H.W. Strobel, *Extrahepatic drug metabolizing enzymes*.
 Journal of biochemical and molecular toxicology, 1999. 13(5): p. 227-230.
- Nishimura, M., H. Yaguti, H. Yoshitsugu, S. Naito, and T. Satoh, *Tissue distribution of mRNA expression of human cytochrome P450 isoforms assessed by high-sensitivity real-time reverse transcription PCR.* Yakugaku zasshi : Journal of the Pharmaceutical Society of Japan, 2003. **123**(5): p. 369-375.
- Korashy, H.M., R.H. Elbekai, and A.O.S. El-Kadi, *Effects of renal diseases* on the regulation and expression of renal and hepatic drug-metabolizing *enzymes: a review.* Xenobiotica; the fate of foreign compounds in biological systems, 2004. **34**(1): p. 1-29.
- Dean, M., Y. Hamon, and G. Chimini, *The human ATP-binding cassette* (*ABC*) transporter superfamily. Journal of lipid research, 2001. 42(7): p. 1007-1017.
- Mikkaichi, T., T. Suzuki, M. Tanemoto, S. Ito, and T. Abe, *The organic anion transporter (OATP) family.* Drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics, 2004.
 19(3): p. 171-179.
- Brodie, A.M., *Aromatase inhibition and its pharmacologic implications.*Biochemical pharmacology, 1985. **34**(18): p. 3213-3219.

- 15. Vane, J.R., *Inhibitors of prostaglandin, prostacyclin, and thromboxane synthesis.* Advances in prostaglandin and thromboxane research, 1978. 4:
 p. 27-44.
- 16. Shen, R.F. and H.H. Tai, *Thromboxanes: synthase and receptors.* Journal of biomedical science, 1998. **5**(3): p. 153-172.
- Morgan, E.T., K.B. Goralski, M. Piquette-Miller, K.W. Renton, G.R. Robertson, M.R. Chaluvadi, K.A. Charles, S.J. Clarke, M. Kacevska, C. Liddle, T.A. Richardson, R. Sharma, and C.J. Sinal, *Regulation of drugmetabolizing enzymes and transporters in infection, inflammation, and cancer.* Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 2008. **36**(2): p. 205-216.
- 18. Morgan, E., T. Li-Masters, and P. Cheng, *Mechanisms of cytochrome P450 regulation by inflammatory mediators.* Toxicology, 2002. **181**: p. 207-210.
- Carcillo, J.A., L. Doughty, D. Kofos, R.F. Frye, S.S. Kaplan, H. Sasser, and G.J. Burckart, *Cytochrome P450 mediated-drug metabolism is reduced in children with sepsis-induced multiple organ failure.* Intensive care medicine, 2003. 29(6): p. 980-984.
- Morgan, E., K. Goralski, M. Piquette-Miller, K. Renton, G. Robertson, M. Chaluvadi, K. Charles, S. Clarke, M. Kacevska, and C. Liddle, *Regulation of drug-metabolizing enzymes and transporters in infection, inflammation, and cancer.* Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2008. 36(2): p. 205.

- Pereira, S.G. and F. Oakley, *Nuclear factor-kappaB1: regulation and function*. The international journal of biochemistry & amp; cell biology, 2008. **40**(8): p. 1425-1430.
- Zordoky, B.N.M. and A.O.S. El-Kadi, *Role of NF-kappaB in the regulation of cytochrome P450 enzymes.* Current drug metabolism, 2009. **10**(2): p. 164-178.
- Ghosh, S., M.J. May, and E.B. Kopp, *NF-kappa B and Rel proteins:* evolutionarily conserved mediators of immune responses. Annual review of immunology, 1998. 16: p. 225-260.
- 24. Pahl, H.L., Activators and target genes of Rel/NF-kappaB transcription factors. Oncogene, 1999. **18**(49): p. 6853-6866.
- Kumar, A., Y. Takada, A.M. Boriek, and B.B. Aggarwal, *Nuclear factor-kappaB: its role in health and disease.* Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany), 2004. 82(7): p. 434-448.
- Zangar, R.C., N. Bollinger, S. Verma, N.J. Karin, and Y. Lu, *The nuclear factor-kappa B pathway regulates cytochrome P450 3A4 protein stability.* Molecular pharmacology, 2008. **73**(6): p. 1652-1658.
- 27. Aitken, A. and E. Morgan, *Gene-specific effects of inflammatory cytokines* on cytochrome P450 2C, 2B6 and 3A4 mRNA levels in human hepatocytes.
 Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 2007. 35(9): p. 1687.
- 28. Kikuta, Y., E. Kusunose, K. Endo, S. Yamamoto, K. Sogawa, Y. Fujii-Kuriyama, and M. Kusunose, *A novel form of cytochrome P-450 family 4 in human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. cDNA cloning and expression of*

leukotriene B4 omega-hydroxylase. The Journal of biological chemistry, 1993. **268**(13): p. 9376-9380.

- Chen, L. and J.P. Hardwick, *Identification of a new P450 subfamily, CYP4F1, expressed in rat hepatic tumors.* Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 1993. **300**(1): p. 18-23.
- 30. Chen, X., S. Wang, N. Wu, and C.S. Yang, *Leukotriene A4 hydrolase as a target for cancer prevention and therapy.* Current cancer drug targets, 2004.
 4(3): p. 267-283.
- 31. Kalsotra, A., C. Turman, Y. Kikuta, and H. Strobel, *Expression and characterization of human cytochrome P450 4F11: Putative role in the metabolism of* Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology, 2004.
- Kalsotra, A. and H.W. Strobel, *Cytochrome P450 4F subfamily: at the crossroads of eicosanoid and drug metabolism.* Pharmacology & amp; therapeutics, 2006. **112**(3): p. 589-611.
- Kikuta, Y., E. Kusunose, and M. Kusunose, *Characterization of human liver leukotriene B(4) omega-hydroxylase P450 (CYP4F2)*. Journal of biochemistry, 2000. **127**(6): p. 1047-1052.
- Stark, K., H. Törmä, M. Cristea, and E.H. Oliw, *Expression of CYP4F8* (prostaglandin H 19-hydroxylase) in human epithelia and prominent induction in epidermis of psoriatic lesions. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 2002. 409(1): p. 188-196.

- 35. Cui, X., D.R. Nelson, and H.W. Strobel, *A novel human cytochrome P450 4F isoform (CYP4F11): cDNA cloning, expression, and genomic structural characterization.* Genomics, 2000. **68**(2): p. 161-166.
- Bylund, J., M. Bylund, and E.H. Oliw, *cDna cloning and expression of CYP4F12, a novel human cytochrome P450.* Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2001. 280(3): p. 892-897.
- 37. Hashizume, T., S. Imaoka, T. Hiroi, Y. Terauchi, T. Fujii, H. Miyazaki, T. Kamataki, and Y. Funae, *cDNA cloning and expression of a novel cytochrome p450 (cyp4f12) from human small intestine.* Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2001. 280(4): p. 1135-1141.
- Stark, K., L. Schauer, G.E. Sahlén, G. Ronquist, and E.H. Oliw, *Expression* of CYP4F12 in gastrointestinal and urogenital epithelia. Basic & amp; clinical pharmacology & amp; toxicology, 2004. 94(4): p. 177-183.
- 39. Springer, T.A., *Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm.* Cell, 1994. **76**(2): p. 301-314.
- West, N.P., P. Sansonetti, J. Mounier, R.M. Exley, C. Parsot, S. Guadagnini,
 M.-C. Prévost, A. Prochnicka-Chalufour, M. Delepierre, M. Tanguy, and C.M.
 Tang, *Optimization of virulence functions through glucosylation of Shigella*LPS. Science (New York, NY), 2005. **307**(5713): p. 1313-1317.
- 41. Kalsotra, Zhao, Anakk, Dash, and Strobel, *Brain trauma leads to enhanced lung inflammation and injury: evidence for role of P4504Fs in resolution.*Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 2006.

- 42. Dey, A., J.E. Jones, and D.W. Nebert, *Tissue- and cell type-specific* expression of cytochrome P450 1A1 and cytochrome P450 1A2 mRNA in the mouse localized in situ hybridization. Biochemical pharmacology, 1999.
 58(3): p. 525-537.
- 43. Shang, H., J. Yang, Y. Liu, and H. Wei, *Tissue distribution of CYP3A29 mRNA expression in Bama miniature pig by quantitative reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR).* Xenobiotica; the fate of foreign compounds in biological systems, 2009. **39**(6): p. 423-429.
- 44. Imaoka, S., T. Hashizume, and Y. Funae, Localization of rat cytochrome P450 in various tissues and comparison of arachidonic acid metabolism by rat P450 with that by human P450 orthologs. Drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics, 2006. 20(6): p. 478-484.
- 45. Seliskar, M. and D. Rozman, *Mammalian cytochromes P450--importance of tissue specificity.* Biochimica et biophysica acta, 2007. **1770**(3): p. 458-466.
- Jin, R., D.R. Koop, J.L. Raucy, and J.M. Lasker, *Role of human CYP4F2 in hepatic catabolism of the proinflammatory agent leukotriene B4.* Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 1998. **359**(1): p. 89-98.
- 47. Christmas, P., S.R. Ursino, J.W. Fox, and R.J. Soberman, *Expression of the CYP4F3 gene. tissue-specific splicing and alternative promoters generate high and low K(m) forms of leukotriene B(4) omega-hydroxylase.* The Journal of biological chemistry, 1999. **274**(30): p. 21191-21199.
- 48. Christmas, P., J.P. Jones, C.J. Patten, D.A. Rock, Y. Zheng, S.M. Cheng,B.M. Weber, N. Carlesso, D.T. Scadden, A.E. Rettie, and R.J. Soberman,

Alternative splicing determines the function of CYP4F3 by switching substrate specificity. The Journal of biological chemistry, 2001. **276**(41): p. 38166-38172.

- 49. Kalsotra, A., S. Anakk, C.L. Boehme, and H.W. Strobel, *Sexual dimorphism* and tissue specificity in the expression of CYP4F forms in Sprague Dawley rats. Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 2002. 30(9): p. 1022-1028.
- 50. Meyer, U.A., *Overview of enzymes of drug metabolism.* Journal of pharmacokinetics and biopharmaceutics, 1996. **24**(5): p. 449-459.
- 51. Uno, Y., K. Matsuno, C. Nakamura, M. Utoh, and H. Yamazaki, Identification and characterization of CYP2B6 cDNA in cynomolgus macaques (Macaca fascicularis). The Journal of veterinary medical science / the Japanese Society of Veterinary Science, 2009. **71**(12): p. 1653-1656.
- 52. Gonzalez, F.J., S.Y. Liu, and M. Yano, *Regulation of cytochrome P450* genes: molecular mechanisms. Pharmacogenetics, 1993. **3**(1): p. 51-57.
- 53. Schuetz, E.G., J.D. Schuetz, S.C. Strom, M.T. Thompson, R.A. Fisher, D.T. Molowa, D. Li, and P.S. Guzelian, *Regulation of human liver cytochromes P-450 in family 3A in primary and continuous culture of human hepatocytes.* Hepatology (Baltimore, Md), 1993. 18(5): p. 1254-1262.
- 54. Krishna, D.R. and U. Klotz, *Extrahepatic metabolism of drugs in humans*.Clinical pharmacokinetics, 1994. 26(2): p. 144-160.
- 55. Tsao, C.C., S.J. Coulter, A. Chien, G. Luo, N.P. Clayton, R. Maronpot, J.A. Goldstein, and D.C. Zeldin, *Identification and localization of five CYP2Cs in*

murine extrahepatic tissues and their metabolism of arachidonic acid to regio- and stereoselective products. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics, 2001. **299**(1): p. 39-47.

- 56. Ding, X. and L.S. Kaminsky, Human extrahepatic cytochromes P450: function in xenobiotic metabolism and tissue-selective chemical toxicity in the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology, 2003. 43: p. 149-173.
- 57. Koch, I., R. Weil, R. Wolbold, J. Brockmöller, E. Hustert, O. Burk, A. Nuessler, P. Neuhaus, M. Eichelbaum, U. Zanger, and L. Wojnowski, *Interindividual variability and tissue-specificity in the expression of cytochrome P450 3A mRNA.* Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 2002. **30**(10): p. 1108-1114.
- 58. Jin, Y., M. Zollinger, H. Borell, A. Zimmerlin, and C.J. Patten, *CYP4F* enzymes are responsible for the elimination of fingolimod (FTY720), a novel treatment of relapsing multiple sclerosis. Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 2011. **39**(2): p. 191-198.
- 59. Kalsotra, A., X. Cui, S. Anakk, C.A. Hinojos, P.A. Doris, and H.W. Strobel, *Renal localization, expression, and developmental regulation of P450 4F cytochromes in three substrains of spontaneously hypertensive rats.*Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2005. 338(1): p. 423-431.
- 60. Liu, X., Y. Zhao, L. Wang, X. Yang, Z. Zheng, Y. Zhang, F. Chen, and H. Liu, *Overexpression of cytochrome P450 4F2 in mice increases 20-*

hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid production and arterial blood pressure. Kidney international, 2009.

- 61. Iber, H., Q. Chen, P.Y. Cheng, and E.T. Morgan, *Suppression of CYP2C11 gene transcription by interleukin-1 mediated by NF-kappaB binding at the transcription start site.* Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 2000. 377 (1): p. 187-194.
- Morgan, E.T., *Regulation of cytochrome p450 by inflammatory mediators:* why and how? Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 2001. 29(3): p. 207-212.
- 63. Iber, H., M.B. Sewer, T.B. Barclay, S.R. Mitchell, T. Li, and E.T. Morgan, *Modulation of drug metabolism in infectious and inflammatory diseases.*Drug metabolism reviews, 1999. **31**(1): p. 29-41.
- Kalsotra, A., S. Anakk, C.L. Brommer, Y. Kikuta, E.T. Morgan, and H.W. Strobel, *Catalytic characterization and cytokine mediated regulation of cytochrome P450 4Fs in rat hepatocytes.* Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 2007. 461(1): p. 104-112.
- Kalsotra, A., X. Cui, L. Antonovic, A.M. Robida, E.T. Morgan, and H.W.
 Strobel, *Inflammatory prompts produce isoform-specific changes in the expression of leukotriene B(4) omega-hydroxylases in rat liver and kidney.*FEBS letters, 2003. 555(2): p. 236-242.
- 66. Cui, X., H. Kawashima, T.B. Barclay, J.M. Peters, F.J. Gonzalez, E.T. Morgan, and H.W. Strobel, *Molecular cloning and regulation of expression of two novel mouse CYP4F genes: expression in peroxisome proliferator-*

activated receptor alpha-deficient mice upon lipopolysaccharide and clofibrate challenges. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics, 2001. **296**(2): p. 542-550.

- 67. Cui, X., A. Kalsotra, A.M. Robida, D. Matzilevich, A.N. Moore, C.L. Boehme,
 E.T. Morgan, P.K. Dash, and H.W. Strobel, *Expression of cytochromes P450*4F4 and 4F5 in infection and injury models of inflammation. Biochimica et
 biophysica acta, 2003. 1619(3): p. 325-331.
- 68. Dinarello, C.A., *Proinflammatory cytokines*. Chest, 2000. **118**(2): p. 503-508.
- Ballabh, P., A. Braun, and M. Nedergaard, *The blood-brain barrier: an overview: structure, regulation, and clinical implications.* Neurobiology of disease, 2004. 16(1): p. 1-13.
- Abbott, N.J., L. Rönnbäck, and E. Hansson, *Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier.* Nature reviews Neuroscience, 2006.
 7(1): p. 41-53.
- 71. Dutheil, F., P. Beaune, and M. Loriot, *Xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes in the central nervous system: Contribution of cytochrome P450 enzymes in normal and pathological human brain.* Biochimie, 2007.
- 72. Ravindranath, V., H.K. Anandatheerthavarada, and S.K. Shankar, *NADPH cytochrome P-450 reductase in rat, mouse and human brain.* Biochemical pharmacology, 1990. **39**(6): p. 1013-1018.
- 73. Warner, M., C. Köhler, T. Hansson, and J.A. Gustafsson, *Regional distribution of cytochrome P-450 in the rat brain: spectral quantitation and*

contribution of P-450b,e, and P-450c,d. Journal of neurochemistry, 1988. **50** (4): p. 1057-1065.

- Liu, M., P.D. Hurn, and N.J. Alkayed, *Cytochrome P450 in neurological disease.* Current drug metabolism, 2004. 5(3): p. 225-234.
- 75. Roman, R.J., *P-450 metabolites of arachidonic acid in the control of cardiovascular function.* Physiological reviews, 2002. **82**(1): p. 131-185.
- Nunez, B.S. and S.L. Applebaum, *Tissue- and sex-specific regulation of CYP19A1 expression in the Atlantic croaker (Micropogonias undulatus).* General and comparative endocrinology, 2006. 149(2): p. 205-216.
- Waxman, D.J. and M.G. Holloway, Sex differences in the expression of hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes. Molecular pharmacology, 2009. 76(2):
 p. 215-228.
- Phan, V.H., M.M. Moore, A.J. McLachlan, M. Piquette-Miller, H. Xu, and S.J. Clarke, *Ethnic differences in drug metabolism and toxicity from chemotherapy.* Expert opinion on drug metabolism & amp; toxicology, 2009.
 5(3): p. 243-257.
- 79. Wood, A.J. and H.H. Zhou, *Ethnic differences in drug disposition and responsiveness.* Clinical pharmacokinetics, 1991. **20**(5): p. 350-373.
- Cai, W.-M., D.M. Nikoloff, R.-M. Pan, J. de Leon, P. Fanti, M. Fairchild, W.H. Koch, and P.J. Wedlund, *CYP2D6 genetic variation in healthy adults and psychiatric African-American subjects: implications for clinical practice and genetic testing.* The pharmacogenomics journal, 2006. 6(5): p. 343-350.

- 81. Yamaori, S., H. Yamazaki, S. Iwano, K. Kiyotani, K. Matsumura, T. Saito, A. Parkinson, K. Nakagawa, and T. Kamataki, *Ethnic differences between Japanese and Caucasians in the expression levels of mRNAs for CYP3A4, CYP3A5 and CYP3A7: lack of co-regulation of the expression of CYP3A in Japanese livers.* Xenobiotica; the fate of foreign compounds in biological systems, 2005. **35**(1): p. 69-83.
- Renton, K.W. and T.E. Nicholson, *Hepatic and central nervous system* cytochrome P450 are down-regulated during lipopolysaccharide-evoked localized inflammation in brain. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics, 2000. 294(2): p. 524-530.
- Miksys, S.L. and R.F. Tyndale, *Drug-metabolizing cytochrome P450s in the brain.* Journal of psychiatry & amp; neuroscience : JPN, 2002. 27(6): p. 406-415.
- McFayden, M.C., W.T. Melvin, and G.I. Murray, *Regional distribution of individual forms of cytochrome P450 mRNA in normal adult human brain.*Biochemical pharmacology, 1998. 55(6): p. 825-830.
- Kawashima, H., E. Kusunose, C.M. Thompson, and H.W. Strobel, *Protein* expression, characterization, and regulation of CYP4F4 and CYP4F5 cloned from rat brain. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 1997. 347(1): p. 148-154.
- Bylund, J., A.G. Harder, K.G. Maier, R.J. Roman, and D.R. Harder, *Leukotriene B4 omega-side chain hydroxylation by CYP4F5 and CYP4F6.*Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 2003. 412(1): p. 34-41.

- Wang, Y., Zhao, Kalsotra, C. Turman, R. Grill, Dash, and Strobel, *CYP4Fs Expression in Rat Brain Correlates with Changes in LTB4 Levels after Traumatic Brain Injury.* Journal of neurotrauma, 2008. 25(10): p. 1187-1194.
- Kalsotra, A., C.M. Turman, Y. Kikuta, and H.W. Strobel, *Expression and characterization of human cytochrome P450 4F11: Putative role in the metabolism of therapeutic drugs and eicosanoids.* Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology, 2004. **199**(3): p. 295-304.
- Volk, B., U. Hettmannsperger, T. Papp, Z. Amelizad, F. Oesch, and R. Knoth, *Mapping of phenytoin-inducible cytochrome P450 immunoreactivity in the mouse central nervous system.* Neuroscience, 1991. 42(1): p. 215-235.
- Dhawan, A., D. Parmar, M. Das, and P.K. Seth, *Cytochrome P-450* dependent monooxygenases in neuronal and glial cells: inducibility and specificity. Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 1990.
 170(2): p. 441-447.
- 91. Ravindranath, V., *Metabolism of xenobiotics in the central nervous system:: Implications and challenges.* Biochemical pharmacology, 1998. 56(5): p. 547-551.
- 92. Metea, M.R. and E.A. Newman, *Glial cells dilate and constrict blood vessels: a mechanism of neurovascular coupling.* The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 2006. 26 (11): p. 2862-2870.

- Shedlofsky, S.I., A.T. Swim, J.M. Robinson, V.S. Gallicchio, D.A. Cohen, and
 C.J. McClain, *Interleukin-1 (IL-1) depresses cytochrome P450 levels and activities in mice.* Life sciences, 1987. 40(24): p. 2331-2336.
- Ghezzi, P., B. Saccardo, P. Villa, V. Rossi, M. Bianchi, and C.A. Dinarello, Role of interleukin-1 in the depression of liver drug metabolism by endotoxin. Infection and immunity, 1986. 54(3): p. 837-840.
- 95. Shedlofsky, S.I., B.C. Israel, R. Tosheva, and R.A. Blouin, *Endotoxin depresses hepatic cytochrome P450-mediated drug metabolism in women.*British journal of clinical pharmacology, 1997. 43(6): p. 627-632.
- 96. Bertini, R., M. Bianchi, P. Villa, and P. Ghezzi, Depression of liver drug metabolism and increase in plasma fibrinogen by interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor: a comparison with lymphotoxin and interferon. International journal of immunopharmacology, 1988. **10**(5): p. 525-530.
- 97. Wright, K. and E.T. Morgan, *Transcriptional and post-transcriptional suppression of P450IIC11 and P450IIC12 by inflammation.* FEBS letters, 1990. 271(1-2): p. 59-61.
- Morgan, E.T., Suppression of constitutive cytochrome P-450 gene expression in livers of rats undergoing an acute phase response to endotoxin. Molecular pharmacology, 1989. 36(5): p. 699-707.
- Tang, G., Y. Minemoto, B. Dibling, N.H. Purcell, Z. Li, M. Karin, and A. Lin, Inhibition of JNK activation through NF-kappaB target genes. Nature, 2001.
 414(6861): p. 313-317.

- 100. de Smaele, E., F. Zazzeroni, S. Papa, D.U. Nguyen, R. Jin, J. Jones, R.
 Cong, and G. Franzoso, *Induction of gadd45beta by NF-kappaB downregulates pro-apoptotic JNK signalling.* Nature, 2001. 414(6861): p.
 308-313.
- 101. Deng, Y., X. Ren, L. Yang, Y. Lin, and X. Wu, *A JNK-dependent pathway is required for TNFalpha-induced apoptosis.* Cell, 2003. **115**(1): p. 61-70.
- 102. Wang, Y., J.C. Bell, D.S. Keeney, and H.W. Strobel, *Gene regulation of CYP4F11 in human keratinocyte HaCaT cells.* Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 2010. **38**(1): p. 100-107.
- 103. Román, J., A. Giménez, J.M. Lluis, M. Gassó, M. Rubio, J. Caballeria, A. Parés, J. Rodés, and J.C. Fernández-Checa, *Enhanced DNA binding and activation of transcription factors NF-kappa B and AP-1 by acetaldehyde in HEPG2 cells.* The Journal of biological chemistry, 2000. **275**(19): p. 14684-14690.
- 104. Ke, S., A.B. Rabson, J.F. Germino, M.A. Gallo, and Y. Tian, *Mechanism of suppression of cytochrome P-450 1A1 expression by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and lipopolysaccharide.* The Journal of biological chemistry, 2001.
 276(43): p. 39638-39644.
- 105. Abdulla, D., K.B. Goralski, E.G. del Busto Cano, and K.W. Renton, *The signal transduction pathways involved in hepatic cytochrome P450 regulation in the rat during a lipopolysaccharide-induced model of central nervous system inflammation.* Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 2005. **33**(10): p. 1521-1531.

- 106. Papa, S., C. Bubici, F. Zazzeroni, C.G. Pham, C. Kuntzen, J.R. Knabb, K.
 Dean, and G. Franzoso, *The NF-kappaB-mediated control of the JNK cascade in the antagonism of programmed cell death in health and disease.*Cell death and differentiation, 2006. **13**(5): p. 712-729.
- 107. Theken, K.N., Y. Deng, M.A. Kannon, T.M. Miller, S.M. Poloyac, and C.R. Lee, Activation of the Acute Inflammatory Response Alters Cytochrome P450 Expression and Eicosanoid Metabolism. Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals, 2010. **39**(1): p. 22-29.